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outlined below. 

 
Ms Peta Jurd 
Chief Commercial Officer 
 
E:  pjurd@simavita.com 
T:  +61 284056300 
W:  Investor Centre: Click here 
 
 
About Simavita 

Simavita (ASX: SVA) develops and markets advanced systems associated with smart, wearable and disposable sensors 
for the health care industry. Our first products focus on major unmet needs for the assessment and management of 
incontinence. The annual global economic burden is billions of dollars for incontinence diapers alone and is increasing 
rapidly. 
 
Simavita operates in Australia, Europe and North America where there is a significant and growing demand for 
products that deliver real clinical and cost benefits to the health care industry. 
 
With the support of our shareholders, customers and employees, Simavita is absolutely committed to the business at 
hand; creating a commercially successful and growing corporation.  www.simavita.com 
  
 
Forward-Looking Information 

This document may contain “forward-looking information” within the meaning of Canadian securities laws (“forward-looking 
information”). This forward-looking information is given as of the date of this document. 

Forward-looking information relates to future events or future performance and reflects Simavita management’s expectations or beliefs 
regarding future events.  Assumptions upon which such forward-looking information is based include that Simavita will be able to 
successfully execute on its business plans.  Many of these assumptions are based on factors and events that are not within the control of 
Simavita and there is no assurance they will prove to be correct. 

In certain cases, forward-looking information can be identified by the use of words such as “plans”, “expects” or “does not expect”, “is 
expected”, “budget”, “potential”, “scheduled”, “estimates”, “forecasts”, “intends”, “anticipates” or “does not anticipate”, or “believes”, 
or variations of such words and phrases or information that certain actions, events or results “may”, “could”, “would”, “might” or “will 
be taken”, “occur” or “be achieved” or the negative of these terms or comparable terminology. By its very nature forward-looking 
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information involves known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which may cause the actual results, performance or 
achievements of Simavita to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by the 
forward-looking information.  Such factors include, among others, risks related to actual results of current business activities; changes in 
business plans and strategy as plans continue to be refined; other risks of the medical devices and technology industry; delays in 
obtaining governmental approvals or financing or in the completion of development activities; as well as those factors detailed from 
time to time in Simavita’s interim and annual financial statements and management’s discussion and analysis of those statements.  
Although Simavita has attempted to identify important factors that could cause actual actions, events or results to differ materially 
from those described in forward-looking information, there may be other factors that cause actions, events or results not to be as 
anticipated, estimated or intended.  Simavita provides no assurance that forward-looking information will prove to be accurate, as 
actual results and future events could differ materially from those anticipated in such information.  Accordingly, readers should not 
place undue reliance on forward-looking information 
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The Company can now deliver 
a portfolio of sensors and 
systems that will meet a clear 
demand for cost effective, 
better and timely information 
to address all segments of the 
international infant diaper and 
adult diaper industry.

SMARTZTM  
GOOD DESIGN OF THE 
YEAR AWARD 2019
A truly industry 
disruptive technology. 



The Corporate Governance Statement outlining Simavita Limited’s corporate governance framework and 
practices in the form of a report against the ASX Corporate Governance Council’s Corporate Governance 

Principles and Recommendations, 3rd Edition, is available on the Simavita Limited website at  
http://www.simavita.com/irm/content/corporate-governance.aspx in accordance with ASX listing rule 4.10.3. 

The Directors approved the 2018 Corporate Governance Statement on August 29, 2018.
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INTRODUCTION
Simavita Limited (ASX: SVA) is a MedTech Company focused 
on the development of smart, wearable and disposable 
platform technologies for the health care market. 

Since 2017 Simavita has delivered on its PIVOT strategy to 
restructure its focus, products and operations. Key to our goal 
has been to transition into a MedTech Company with a low 
recurring cost structure capable of delivering product to new 
and major markets of interest.

The Company can now deliver a portfolio of sensors and 
systems that will meet a clear demand for cost effective, 
better and timely information to address all segments of 
the international infant diaper and adult diaper industry. The 
opportunity represents a clear unmet market need to provide 
low cost product to a rapidly growing US$54bn diaper market 
for infants and a US$11bn market for adult incontinence pads. 

TECHNOLOGY – MAKING DIAPERS SMART AND CONNECTED 
WITH SMARTZ™
Rising demand for technology based solutions from 
international diaper manufacturers has surged on the 
back of fierce industry competition and demand for smart 
products from millennial aged parents and adult care 
agencies who expect information and efficiencies.  

In the past 6 months’, international diaper manufacturers have 
come to the realisation that the introduction of smart diapers 
is imminent and so are actively seeking technology solutions 
to address this rapidly emerging market need. 

Simavita has thoroughly researched the market requirements 
through extensive engagement with global diaper 
manufacturers, distributors and consumers. This research 
has led to the development of wearable sensors and a 
portfolio of Apps that meet a clear demand for change in 
major markets. Our platform technology, SmartzTM, delivers 
cost effectiveness as well as better and timely information to 
address all segments of the international adult incontinence 
and infant diaper industry. 

SmartzTM is Simavita’s flagship product. It represents 
over 10 years of accumulated development, knowledge 
and significant investment by the Company. SmartzTM is a 
platform of applications which provides meaningful real time 
feedback on the wellbeing of the wearer. SmartzTM takes the 
worry out of care.

In the short term, we are focused on a rapid route to market 
including full regulatory approval to sell product in major 
markets. These are major market opportunities. The sale and 
negotiation process with partner organisations is often long 
and complex. Nonetheless, we are seeing enormous shift in 
focus toward smart diaper products in our target markets.

TECHNOLOGY ROADMAP
SmartzTM is an industry disruptive platform technology. 
It is anticipated that our technology will position Simavita 
to rapidly develop, modify and distribute Apps for end users. 
SmartzTM securely connects mothers and fathers to infants 
and carers to adults in need of help. The platform nature of 
the technology allows for continuous growth and innovation. 

INTRODUCING SMARTZ™
SMARTZTM unique sensor design has enabled us to produce 
a “Smart” incontinence pad or diaper which delivers a host of 
wellness and well being indicators including wetness, ambient 
temperature, pressure sore management, falls and many 
other features and information. 

The unique sensor design is low cost, enabling you to 
purchase “smart” diapers at little cost difference to existing 
products, and to save money on unnecessary product 
changes, whilst saving both time and money by reducing 
unnecessary checks, product changes and the need to 
change wet bedding/clothing, etc.

The smart 
diaper wars 
have truly begun...

About Simavita
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The SmartzTM 
competitive edge

SmartzTM technology also incorporates sensors to measure 
movement, temperature and additional data to provide 
wellness data and warnings (important wellness indicators 
including pressure sore risks and falls) and this functionality 
will expand with product development.

Key to our business plans is to offer a platform for continuous 
innovation to meet the ongoing and changing needs of our 
customers and users of our technology.

The Company is committed to creating a profitable and 
valuable future through rapid innovation and the delivery 
of product that transforms lives.

No change to manufacturing 
machines or efficiency

Hyper low cost of manufacturing 

Platform independent

Apps tailored for major user

“Plug and Play” ease of use for 
carers and parents

Cloud based

Machine learning

Standards compliant & safe

Adult and infant

Annual Report 2019 3



PATENTED TECHNOLOGY
The Company’s immediate strategy 
is to continue to evolve its smart, 
wearable and disposable sensors. We 
have a comprehensive and significant 
intellectual property array of intellectual 
property patents covering 12 families 
of patents with 46 granted and 35 filed 
and in review across all important 
international markets. Simavita devotes 
substantial budget to research and 
development and to expanding our 
global footprint. 

Simavita’s opportunity from here is to materially build our revenue pipeline by licensing the SmartzTM platform technology, whilst 
maintaining a low cost structure.

Global Diaper Market Dynamics

US$64bn
annual sales

US$53bn

US$11bn

RETAILERS
Sales measured in sq feet
Drive Customer loyalty
Store front + online

Diaper Industry:

200M+
people daily

212bn

MANUFACTURERS
Commodity market
Highly competitive
Reduced margins, > costs
Differentiation is essential

Online sales 

Margins

Only marginal change in product 
functionality during past 25yrs

Environmental Impact 
>200 years
to decompose

Value Volume

27bn

CONSUMER DEMAND
Cheaper
Greater Utility
No longer brand driven
Environmental concerns

About Simavita
continued

GLOBAL DIAPER MARKET

A Low cost, Well Being 
monitor collecting real 
time data on persons 

wearing a Smart 
incontinence product

Simavita Limited4



MILESTONES – POST PIVOT STRATEGY – WE HAVE 
DELIVERED CHANGE
Since the launch of the PIVOT strategy in 2017 Simavita 
has achieved the following significant milestones:

 – Pivot to MedTech

 – Smart, wearable and disposable sensors at a cost 
< than dumb product

 – No manufacturing, no inventory, high margins

 – Driven monthly recurring costs from circa $1.25m 
to circa $300k

 – Delivered a patented platform technology to 
a USD64Bn industry 

 – that hasn’t changed in >25 years

 – A highly competitive market with customers 
demanding change

 – Completed App development for multiple applications 
on the SmartzTM platform

 – SmartzTM diapers successfully produced on 
manufacturers production lines

 – Completed successful trials in Australian aged 
care facilities

 – Multiple trial sites identified in Europe for Q4 
completion

NEXT STEP STRATEGY – REVENUE FOCUS
The Company’s Next Steps Strategy involves:

 – Delivery of adult product to market

 – A pure focus on short term commercialization

Our 2019/20 goals with limited funding:

 – License manufacturers and deliver product

 – Completion of Clinical Test Program

 – A full commercialization work up

We expect medtech companies 
will continue to play a significant 
role in reducing medical costs, 
optimizing provider performance, 
and improving patient outcomes. 
In the future, however, the most 
successful companies will be those 
that are able to advance health and 
wellness with the help of emerging 
technologies. These companies will 
leverage the evidence and data 
generated by their digitally enabled 
and connected devices, and forge 
partnerships that enhance and 
extend their capabilities.
Quote: AI, data, and new partnerships 
could define the future of medtech
By Mike DeLone, vice chairman, US life 
sciences leader, Deloitte LLP
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On behalf of the Directors and staff of Simavita, I invite you 
to review the results of the Company for the financial year 
ending 30 June 2019 as set out in the following pages.

The 2018/19 financial year was another critical period for 
Simavita, culminating in the release of our newly branded 
and market ready, smart diaper systems for both adults 
and infants… SmartzTM

We are, we believe, in the right place and at the right time. 
In Australia, a Royal Commission is highlighting critical 
concerns in the multi-billion dollar market for the care of the 
aged. These concerns are matters that, in many cases, are 
measured and tracked by SmartzTM. In Europe, governments 
are legislating against single use plastics while the level of 
knowledge amongst aged care businesses, together with 
significant competition amongst diaper manufacturers, is 
driving that economy toward the rapid adaptation of smart 
product. In North America, we note that major players in the 
diaper industry have recently brought to the infant market, 
new smart type products. 

In order to remain relevant and profitable, international 
markets are rapidly transitioning from an expectation that 
smart diaper products will come in the future, to a scramble 
to find the right technology.

The Simavita SmartzTM product logo is “empowered by 
SmartzTM” and is a clear statement that our platform 
technology takes an ordinary diaper and empowers carers, 
mothers, fathers and others with information and an ability 
to materially improve the wellbeing and wellness of the aged, 
the disabled and infants.

In order to remain relevant and profitable, 
international markets are rapidly 
transitioning from an expectation that smart 
diaper products will come in the future, to 
a scramble to find the right technology.
Michael Spooner 
Chairman

Chairman’s Letter

We are, we believe, 
in the right 
place at the 
right time.

Simavita Limited6



SmartzTM is the culmination of the past 2 years effort and 
investment made by the Company in the development of 
a platform technology that ticks the right boxes

We’ve spent significant time and resource in discussion 
with manufacturers, distributors and most importantly, 
consumers, to clearly understand market demand.

This market research combined with the Company’s 
knowledge accumulated over a 10-year period has enabled 
us to deliver a product that:

 – Meets or exceeds the enormous and growing demand 
for change amongst consumers

 – Delivers information and efficiencies that cannot be 
matched by existing technology

CORPORATE OPERATIONS
The Company is committed to its promise of containing its 
fixed operating cost footprint while we work with our partners 
to deliver product. As part of our PIVOT strategy, I believe we 
have accomplished this goal. We now focus on the business 
of rolling out product to customers through clinical testing 
and in the engagement of multiple partners to manufacture 
and distribute product. The commercialisation process 
is integral to our NEXT STEPS strategy. In the short term, 
we look to enter into commercial agreements with partner 
organisations.

YOUR SUPPORT
Within the past 12 months your company was placed into a 
suspension from trading on the Australian Stock Exchange 
while ongoing funding matters were addressed. We have all 
worked extremely hard to turn the company around. 

Whilst we continue to rely upon the support of shareholders, 
it is clear that the market opportunity is significant and 
that we have developed a smart platform technology that 
uniquely meets real market need.

I would like to take this opportunity to thank you, our 
shareholders, for your continued support. It has been a 
long and difficult road that has seen the company reinvent 
itself in a manner that has continued to engage our long-
term shareholders. I would also like to thank the staff of 
Simavita who see the vision and are committed to deliver 
on that vision.

Michael Spooner  
Chairman of the Directors 
Simavita Limited
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Board of Directors

MICHAEL SPOONER
Executive Chairman
Mr Spooner was appointed as 
Non Executive Chairman of 
Simavita in May 2016 and in 
July 2019 became Executive 
Chairman. Mr Spooner has 
also served on the Board 
of Directors of Mesoblast 
since 2004. During this 
period he has filled various 
roles including as Executive 
Chairman from the date 
of the ASX public listing in 
2004 until 2007. 

He is also the Chairman of 
MicrofluidX since February 
2018.

Over the past several years 
Mr Spooner has served on 
the Board of Directors in 
various capacities at several 
Australian and international 
biotechnology companies, 
including BiVacor Pty Ltd 
(2009-2013), Advanced 
Surgical Design & Manufacture 
Limited (2010-2011), Peplin, 
Inc. (2004-2009), Hawaii 
Biotech, Inc. (2010-2012), 
Hunter Immunology Limited 
(2007-2008), and as managing 
director of Ventracor Limited 
(2001-2003).

Prior to returning to Australia 
in 2001, he spent much of his 
career internationally where 
he served in various roles 
including as a partner to PA 
Consulting Group, a United 
Kingdom-based management 
consultancy and a Principal 
Partner and Director of 
Consulting Services with 
PricewaterhouseCoopers 
(Coopers & Lybrand) in 
Hong Kong.

In addition, Mr Spooner has 
owned and operated several 
international companies 
providing services and has 
consulted to a number of 
American and Asian public 
companies.

DR GARY W PACE
Non-Executive Director
Dr Pace has more than 
40 years of experience 
in the development and 
commercialization of 
advanced life sciences 
and related technologies, 
spanning biotechnology, 
pharmaceuticals, medical 
devices, and food industries. 

He is a serial entrepreneur 
and has held senior positions 
in small to and large-scale 
life sciences ventures and 
companies in Australia, 
the USA and Europe. 

Dr Pace has contributed 
to the development of the 
biotechnology industry 
through honorary university 
appointments and industry 
and government committees.

He is currently a member of 
the Audit and Risk Committee 
and the Remuneration 
Committee.

Dr. Pace is currently a Director 
of two public companies; 
Pacira Pharmaceuticals 
Inc (NASDAQ: PCRX); and 
Antisense Therapeutics (ASX: 
ANP) as well as several private 
companies. He recently retired 
from ResMed (NYSE, RMD) 
after serving as a Director 
for 24 years.

Dr. Pace holds a B.Sc. (Hons 
I) from the University of New 
South Wales and a Ph.D. from 
the Massachusetts Institute of 
Technology. Also he has held 
visiting academic positions 
at the Massachusetts 
Institute of Technology and 
the University of Queensland. 
Dr. Pace is an elected Fellow 
of the Australian Academy 
of Technological Sciences 
and Engineering.

DAMIAN HAAKMAN
Non-Executive Director
Mr Haakman was appointed 
Non-Executive Director of 
Simavita in 2018. 

Mr Haakman is the Managing 
Director of a private family 
office. He manages a portfolio 
including commercial property, 
property development joint 
ventures, mezzanine finance 
and bridging loans as well as 
investments in start-up and 
pre-listed companies. 

Damien’s background 
includes; due diligence 
work, forecasting, market 
assumptions and trends. He 
has a keen interest and is 
following the growing wearable 
technology space as well as 
Connected Devices (Internet 
of Things (IoT), Smart Devices, 
Mobile Apps).

He is currently a member of 
the Audit and Risk Committee 
and the Remuneration 
Committee.

Mr Haakman was previously 
a Director of Simavita Holdings 
Limited from 2012 until 
February 2016 and a Director 
of Simavita Limited from 
the time of its ASX listing in 
November 2013 until 2016.

Mr Haakman is a member 
of the Australian Institute 
of Company Directors.

ALAN D. FISHER 
Non-Executive Director
Mr Fisher was appointed to the 
Board on July 22, 2019. 

Mr Fisher is the Managing 
Director of Fisher Corporate 
Advisory. He has extensive 
experience as a corporate 
advisor and professional 
director specialising in M&A, 
strategic advice, business 
restructurings and capital 
raisings.

Previously, he spent 24 
years at global accounting 
firm Coopers & Lybrand 
where he headed and grew 
the Melbourne Corporate 
Finance Division. He is a 
fellow of Institute of Chartered 
Accountants ANZ and a 
member of the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors.

Mr Fisher is Chair of Simavita’s 
Audit and Risk Committee.

He is currently Non- Executive 
Chair of Centrepoint Alliance 
Limited and IDT Australia 
Limited and Non-Executive 
Director and Chair of the 
Audit and Risk Committee of 
Thorney Technologies Limited 
and Bionomics Limited.

Simavita Limited8



PETER J. CURRAN
Chief Technology Officer
Peter is the Chief Technology 
Officer of Simavita and has 
been with the company 
since May 2009. He has 
over 30 years’ experience in 
engineering, operations, and 
commercial management 
and has been active in 
consumer, industrial and 
defence markets across 
power, telecommunications, 
computer technology, gaming, 
audio, and medical device 
products and services. 

Peter spent his early working 
career as an electronics design 
engineer of industrial power 
equipment for Lincoln Electric 
before moving into senior and 
principal engineering roles in 
defence with GEC Marconi 
systems and Stanilite and then 
into executive management 
positions in manufacturing, 
operations and commercial 
management within the 
electronics industry. 

Peter holds qualifications 
in electrical engineering, 
business administration and 
has accreditations in business 
process improvement.

PETA C. JURD
Chief Commercial Officer
Peta was appointed Chief 
Commercial Officer in 
September 2015. She has 
extensive experience in health 
and technology companies. 

Prior to joining Simavita, Peta 
was the Head of Hills Health 
Solutions at Hills Limited 
where she was responsible 
for leading the Health division, 
providing health technology 
to hospitals and aged care 
facilities in Australia and 
New Zealand. She has also 
held senior management 
positions at Telstra, Veolia 
Environmental Services and 
Mayne Nickless Health Care. 

Peta has a strong commercial 
background and extensive 
experience running 
commercial and operational 
business units and governance 
areas such as compliance, 
risk management, human 
resources, safety and 
legal services. Peta is a 
Non-Executive Director of 
Healthdirect Australia Limited 
and previously served as a 
Director of the National Breast 
Cancer Foundation for 8 years.

COLIN STICKLAND
Consultant – European 
Operations
Colin is highly experienced in 
the healthcare, technology, 
retail and consumer goods 
industries and has worked for 
a number of well-respected 
companies in these fields over 
his 30 year career including 
6 years with Beiersdorf. 

He is a highly experienced 
sales and marketing 
professional and entrepreneur 
and has successfully grown 
brands and businesses at all 
lifecycle stages and in all sizes 
of organisation from start 
up’s through to multi-national 
corporations. 

Prior to working with Simavita, 
Colin was founder and CEO of 
Allanda Limited, a healthcare 
business he founded and 
grew over a decade through 
to successful business exit 
through acquisition. 

Holding a degree in Business 
Administration from Aston 
University, over his career 
Colin has developed a broad 
skillset and his experience 
includes E-Commerce, 
Internet Marketing, 
Distributor Management, 
Partner Marketing, Market 
Launch, Sales Management 
and Business Strategy 
Development. 

Senior Management
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DIRECTORS
The names of the Directors of Simavita 
Limited who held office during the year 
and to the date of this report are:

Michael R Spooner 
Gary W Pace 
Damien M Haakman 
(appointed December 11, 2018) 
Warren R Bingham 
(resigned December 11, 2018) 
Alan D Fisher (appointed July 22, 2019)

COMPANY SECRETARY
Peta C Jurd

Mr. Graeme Blackett was appointed 
for the purposes of ASX Listing Rule 
12.6 on June 27, 2019 replacing 
Emma Lawler who resigned effective 
the same day. Ms Jurd continues as 
Company Secretary and Ms. Jurd 
and Mr. Blackett are responsible 
for communications between the 
Company and ASX. Mr. Blackett 
has over 25 years’ experience as a 
company secretary and is a fellow of 
the Governance Institute of Australia. 
He has been employed by Company 
Matters Pty Ltd as a Senior Company 
Secretary since 2018. Prior to this, 
Mr. Blackett held company secretarial 
and governance roles with National 
Australia Bank, ASIC, AMP and 
Westfield Group.

GROUP OVERVIEW
Simavita Limited is a public company 
incorporated in Canada and it is the 
Ultimate parent company for four 
wholly-owned subsidiaries:

Simavita Holdings Limited 
Simavita (Aust) Pty Ltd 
Fred Bergman Healthcare Pty Ltd 
Simavita US Inc.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS
Principal place of business for the 
Group is Suite 2.02, Level 2, 54 Miller 
Street, North Sydney NSW 2060 
Australia.

The country of incorporation of the 
ultimate parent and controlling entity 
of the Group is in Canada.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Simavita Group of companies 
(the “Group”) is one of the world 
leaders in the development of smart, 
wearable and disposable sensors for 
the global diaper industry. The Group 
is focused upon major and rapidly 
growing markets for adult and infant 
diapers which currently amount to over 
USD$64bn annually.

The Group’s product range now 
encompasses a comprehensive 
spectrum of electronic sensors 
and systems from incontinence 
assessment through to everyday use 
including:

 – Smartz™ is our new core platform 
technology. Smartz™ is a hyper low 
cost, completely disposable product 
linked to smart devices including 
phones and tablets. Our target 
market includes adult and infant 
users for all geographies.

 – AssessPLUS™ a low cost, easy to 
use and highly graphical electronic 
assessment tool for community 
users including the aged and 
disabled.

Simavita operates in Australia, Europe 
and North America where there is 
a significant and growing demand 
for products that deliver real clinical 
and cost benefits to the health care 
industry.

The Directors submit 
their report on 
the consolidated 
entity consisting 
of Simavita Limited 
and the entities it 
controlled at the 
end of June 30, 
2019. Throughout 
the report, the 
consolidated entry 
is referred to as 
the Group.

Directors’ Report
for the year ended June 30, 2019
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INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS
The following information is current as at the date of this report.

M R Spooner B Comm ACA - Executive Chairman

Experience and expertise Independent non-executive Director and Chairman since April 27, 2016 and executive 
Chairman since July 22, 2019. Extensive experience as a Director in medical device, 
biologics and pharmaceutical companies. Previously a Partner with major international 
consulting firms. Member of Institute of Chartered Accountants ANZ since 1983.

Other current directorships Non-executive Director of Mesoblast Limited since 2004. 
Non-executive Chairman of MicrofluidX since February 2018.

Former directorships in last 3 years None.
Special responsibilities Chairman of the Board. Member of the Audit and Risk Committee.
Interests in shares and options 6,279,922 options issued at $0.05 with an expiry date of June 23, 2023.

Dr G W Pace B Sc (Hons 1) Ph.D.

Experience and expertise Independent non-executive Director since April 27, 2016. More than 40 years of 
experience in the development and commercialization of advanced life sciences and 
related technologies, spanning biotechnology, pharmaceuticals, medical devices and food 
industries. Fellow of the Australian Academy of Technology Sciences and Engineering.

Other current directorships Antisense Therapeutics Ltd since 2015. 
Pacira Pharmaceuticals since 2008.

Former directorships in last 3 years Transition Therapeutics from 2002 to 2016. 
ResMed Inc. from 1995 to 2019.

Special responsibilities Member of the Audit and Risk Committee.
Interests in shares and options 6,279,922 options issued at $0.05 with an expiry date of June 23, 2023.

D M Haakman B Comm

Experience and expertise Non-executive Director since December 11, 2018. Extensive experience in private family 
office, which manages a diverse portfolio of assets including medical technology and 
connected smart devices. Graduate member of the Australian Institute of Company 
Directors.

Other current directorships Dussman Pty Ltd since 2004.
Former directorships in last 3 years Simavita Ltd 2013 until 2016.
Special responsibilities Member of the Audit and Risk Committee.
Interests in shares and options 385,757 CDIs and further 101,247,517 held by Dussman Pty Ltd where Mr. Haakman is a 

shareholder and director.

A D Fisher B Comm

Experience and expertise Independent non-executive Director since July 22, 2019. Extensive experience as a 
corporate advisor and professional director specialising in M&A, strategic advice, 
business restructurings and capital raisings. Previously he spent 24 years at global 
accounting firm where he headed and grew the Melbourne Corporate Finance Division. 
Is a fellow of Institute of Chartered Accountants ANZ and a member of the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors.

Other current directorships Non-Executive Chair of Centrepoint Alliance Limited and IDT Australia Limited 
Non-Executive Director and Chair of the Audit and Risk Committee of Thorney 
Technologies Limited and Bionomics Limited.

Former directorships in last 3 years None.

Special responsibilities Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee.

Interests in shares and options None.
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MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS
The numbers of meetings of the Group’s Board of Directors 
and each Board committee held during the year ended June 
30, 2019 and the numbers of meetings attended by each 
Director were:

Full meetings of 
Directors

Audit and Risk 
Committee

A B A B

M R Spooner 25 25 2 2

G W Pace 25 25 2 2

D M Haakman 17 17 1 1

W R Bingham 8 8 1 1

A  = Number of meetings held during the time the Director held office 
B  = Number of meetings attended

REMUNERATION REPORT
The Remuneration Report, which has been disclosed 
voluntarily, describes the Non-Executive Directors and Key 
Management Personnel (’KMP’) remuneration arrangements 
for the Group.

The Remuneration Report contains the following sections:

A: Key management personnel covered in this report

B:  Principles used to determine the nature and amount of 
remuneration

C: Details of remuneration

D: Share-based compensation

E: Directors and KMP Service Agreements

F: Other transactions

A: Key management personnel covered in this report

Directors

Michael R. Spooner

Dr. Gary W. Pace

Damien M. Haakman (appointed December 11, 2018)

Warren R. Bingham (resigned December 11, 2018)

Other key management personnel

Name Position

Peta C. Jurd Company’s Chief Commercial  
Officer/Company Secretary

Peter J. Curran Chief Technology Officer

Wessel van Dijk VP Europe Sales and Marketing 
(resigned January 31, 2019)

Christopher R. 
Southerland

VP US Sales and Marketing 
(resigned July 7, 2017)

B:  Principles used to determine the nature and amount 
of remuneration

The whole Board form the Remuneration Committee. The 
remuneration policy has been designed to align director 
and executive objectives with shareholder and business 
objectives by providing a fixed remuneration component 
with the flexibility to offer specific short term and long term 
incentives based on key performance areas affecting the 
Group’s financial results. The Board believes the remuneration 
policy to be appropriate and effective in its ability to attract 
and retain high quality directors and executives to manage 
the Group.

The Board’s policy for determining the nature and amount of 
remuneration for Board members and senior executives is 
as follows:

 – The remuneration policy, setting the terms and conditions 
for all employees including Executives, was developed 
by the Board. All executives receive a base salary and 
superannuation. The Board reviews executive packages 
annually and determines policy recommendations by 
reference to executive performance, benchmark salary 
surveys relating to comparable industry sectors and other 
listed companies in similar industries.

 – The Board may exercise discretion in relation to approving 
incentives, bonuses and options. The policy is designed 
to attract and retain the highest calibre of executives and 
reward them for performance that results in long term 
growth in shareholder wealth.

 – The directors and executives receive a superannuation 
guarantee contribution required by the government, which 
for the year ended June 30, 2019 was 9.5% of base salary, 
and do not receive any other retirement benefits.

 – The Board policy is to remunerate non-executive directors 
at market rates for comparable companies for time, 
commitment and responsibilities. The Board determines 
payments to the non-executive directors and reviews the 
remuneration annually, based on market practice, duties 
and accountability. Independent external advice is sought 
when required. GST is paid in addition to non-executive 
directors’ fees, where applicable. The maximum aggregate 
amount of fees that can be paid to non-executive directors 
is subject to approval by shareholders at the Annual 
General Meeting. 

The remuneration policy is tailored to increase the direct 
positive relationship between shareholders’ investment 
objectives and directors and executive performance. 
Currently, this is facilitated through the issue of options to 
the directors and executives to encourage the alignment of 
personal and shareholder interests. The Company believes 
this policy will be effective in increasing shareholder wealth.

Directors’ Report
for the year ended June 30, 2019
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C: Details of remuneration
Details of remuneration of the directors and key management personnel (KMP’s) (as defined in AASB 124 Related Party 
Disclosures) of Simavita Limited are set out in the following table.

The table below shows the 2019 and 2018 figures for remuneration received by the Company’s directors and executives:

Short term Long term

Name and title of 
Directors Period

Salary/fees 
$

Other 
$

Post–
employment 

superan–
nuation 

$

Long service 
leave 

$

Share–based 
Options 

$
Totals 

$

Michael R. Spooner(1) 
Executive Chairman

2019  273,976  –  26,028  –  –  300,004 

2018  137,000  –  13,015  –  –  150,015 

Gary W. Pace  
Non-Executive Director

2019  100,000  –  –  –  –  100,000 

2018  100,000  –  –  –  –  100,000 

Damien M. Haakman  
Non-Executive Director

2019  27,823  –  –  –  –  27,823 

2018  –  –  –  –  –  – 

Warren R. Bingham(2) 

Former Non-Executive 
Director

2019  20,833  –  –  –  –  20,833 

2018  50,000  –  –  –  –  50,000 

Sub-totals for Directors
2019  422,632  –  26,028  –  –  448,660 

2018  287,000  –  13,015  –  –  300,015 

Name and title of Executives

Peta C. Jurd 
Chief Commercial Officer  
& Company Secretary

2019  296,310  –  28,149  –  21,000  345,459 

2018  285,600  –  27,132  –  27,000  339,732 

Peter J. Curran(3)  
Chief Technology Officer

2019  282,446  10,000  27,782  –  21,000  341,228 

2018  272,237  –  25,863  –  –  298,100 

Wessel van Dijk(4)  
Former VP Europe Sales 
and Marketing

2019  194,315  15,941  9,309  –  –  219,565 

2018  273,840  25,502  15,207  –  27,000  341,549 

Christopher Southerland(5)  
Former VP. US Sales and 
Marketing

2019  –  –  –  –  –  – 

2018  1,093  –  –  –  –  1,093 

Sub-totals for KMPs
2019  773,071  25,941  65,240  –  42,000  906,252 

2018  832,770  25,502  68,202  –  54,000  980,474 

Total remuneration 
made to Directors 
and KMPs

2019  1,195,703  25,941  91,268  –  42,000  1,354,912 

2018  1,119,770  25,502  81,217  –  54,000  1,280,489 

(1) Michael Spooner became Executive Chairman from Non-Executive Chairman on July 22, 2019.
(2)  Payments made to Mr. Bingham during the years ended June 30, 2019 totaling $20,833 comprised fees paid to MedTech International Pty Ltd, 

a company associated with Mr. Bingham (2018: $50,000), in respect of services provided to the Group by Mr. Bingham as a Director.
(3)  Payments made to Mr. Curran during the year ended June 30, 2019 totalling $10,000 (as disclosed under the heading “Other”) comprised a 

performance bonus.
(4)  Payments made to Mr. van Dijk during the year ended June 30, 2019 totalling $15,941 (2018: $25,502) (as disclosed under the heading 

“Other”) comprised a car allowance. All payments made to Mr. van Dijk were made in euros and converted to Australian dollars. Mr. van Dijk 
subsequently left the Group effective January 31, 2019.

(5)  All payments to Mr. Southerland were made in American dollars and converted to Australian dollars. Mr. Southerland left the Group effective 
July 7, 2017.
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D: Share-based compensation
Options can be issued to directors and executives as part of their remuneration. The options are not based on performance 
criteria, but are issued to align the interest of directors, executives and shareholders.

The table below shows the details of 2019 and 2018 share options for the Company’s directors and executives:

Name and title of Directors Period

Opening  
Balance 
Number

Granted as 
remuneration 

Number
Expired 
Number

At the date of 
resignation 

Number

Closing 
Balance 
Number

Michael R. Spooner  
Non-Executive Chairman

2019  6,279,922  –  –  –  6,279,922 

2018  6,279,922  –  –  –  6,279,922 

Gary W. Pace  
Non-Executive Director

2019  6,279,922  –  –  –  6,279,922 

2018  6,279,922  –  –  –  6,279,922 

Warren R. Bingham 
Non-Executive Director

2019  250,000  –  –  (250,000) –

2018  250,000  –  –  –  250,000 

Sub-totals for Directors
2019  12,809,844  –  –  (250,000)  12,559,844 

2018  12,809,844  –  –  –  12,809,844 

Name and title of Executives

Peta C. Jurd 
Chief Commercial Officer  
& Company Secretary

2019  2,500,000  1,000,000  –  –  3,500,000 

2018  1,500,000  1,000,000  –  –  2,500,000 

Peter J. Curran 
Chief Technology Officer

2019  4,150,000  1,000,000  (650,000)  –  4,500,000 

2018  4,150,000  –  –  –  4,150,000 

Wessel van Dijk 
Former VP Europe Sales and 
Marketing

2019  2,500,000  –  –  (2,500,000)  – 

2018  1,500,000  1,000,000  –  –  2,500,000 

Sub-totals for KMPs
2019  9,150,000  2,000,000  (650,000)  (2,500,000)  8,000,000 

2018  7,150,000  2,000,000  –  –  9,150,000 

Total Directors and KMPs
2019  21,959,844  2,000,000  (650,000)  (2,750,000)  20,559,844 

2018  19,959,844  2,000,000  –  –  21,959,844 

Directors’ Report
for the year ended June 30, 2019
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The numbers of options outstanding issued to company’s directors and executives including the respective dates of expiry and 
exercise prices, are tabled below. The options are not listed on the ASX.

Number Exercise price Grant date Expiry date
Fair value per option 
Black Scholes

6,279,922 $0.05 July 14, 2016 June 23, 2023 $0.056

6,279,922 $0.05 July 14, 2016 June 23, 2023 $0.056

3,000,000 $0.06 October 13, 2016 October 13, 2023 $0.034

2,000,000 $0.05 June 29, 2017 June 28, 2024 $0.019

1,000,000 $0.05 February 15, 2018 January 31, 2025 $0.027

2,000,000 $0.035 November 20, 2018 November 19, 2025 $0.021

E: Directors and KMP Service Agreements
Director Michael R. Spooner is employed as a Executive Chairman on the following key terms:

a. Directors fee of A$350,000 per annum

Director Gary W. Pace is employed as a Non-Executive Director on the following key terms:

a. Director’s fee of A$100,000 per annum

Director Damien M. Haakman is employed as a Non-Executive Director on the following key terms:

a. Director’s fee of A$50,000 per annum

Executive Peta C. Jurd is employed as a Chief Commercial Officer and Company Secretary on the following key terms:

a. Base salary of A$299,892 per annum plus superannuation
b. 3-month notice period

Executive Peter J. Curran is employed as a Chief Technology Officer on the following key terms:

a. Base salary of A$285,849 per annum plus superannuation
b. 2-month notice period

F: Other Transactions
Mr. Michael Spooner, is a director of Simavita Limited, invested $50,000 in 2019 Convertible Notes. The terms and conditions of 
the 2019 Convertible Note are detailed in Note 17.

Dr. Gary Pace, is a director of Simavita Limited, invested $50,000 in 2019 Convertible Notes. The terms and conditions of the 
2019 Convertible Note are detailed in Note 17.

Amounts recongnised as liabilities:
At the end of the reorting period the following aggregate amounts were recognised in relation to the above transactions:

June 30, 2019
$

June 30, 2018
$

Current liabilities  100,000 –
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SIMAVITA OVERVIEW

Strategic Business Review and Refocus
During the year the Group completed its PIVOT strategy 
to materially reduce operating costs and to focus upon 
the delivery of a business model and software platform 
technology Smartz™ (formerly AlertPLUS™) which the 
Company believes has market demand and may deliver 
a strong and profitable business. The Company is now 
embarking on its Next Steps strategy. Our focus is to bring 
the Group’s leading platform technology to market.

Smartz™ is available for adult and infant markets. It is, we 
believe, an industry disruptive, platform technology. The 
technology will be licensed to major manufacturers for sale 
to distributors, retailers and aged care institutions. It has 
three components which may be modified to suit product and 
market requirements. Components include:

 – An integrated electronic sensor which forms part of 
the diaper materials. The sensor is added to the diaper 
during manufacture and does not require modification to 
manufacturing equipment or the manufacturing process, 
nor does the addition of the sensor impact manufacturing 
efficiency. Current estimates of the cost of a standard 
sensor indicate it will be immaterial to the input costs of 
each diaper. Importantly, the sensor may be adapted to 
specified diaper types.

 – A low cost, multi-use, data capture device which is clipped 
to the end of each diaper. The ideal low cost specification 
for this device is Bluetooth. However, it may be modified 
to utilize WIFI. Furthermore, the device may be adapted 
to cater for environmental and specific health and safety 
requirements.

 – A multi-OS downloadable APP including Android, Windows 
and IOS from Apple iTunes developed and modified to 
suit market requirements. APPs may support multiple 
languages as well as functionality required by users.

Smartz™ provides objective, timely and cost effective 
information about the wellness and well being of people 
wearing the Smartz™ diaper. It delivers meaningful data on 
key clinical conditions such as pressure sores, falls, hydration, 
temperature as well as diaper wetness.

The Group can now deliver sensors and a portfolio of APPS 
that meet a growing demand for change in major markets. 
The operation of the Smartz™ platform represents a clear 
unmet market need to provide low cost product to a rapidly 
growing US$53bn diaper market for infants and a US$11bn 
market for adult incontinence pads. It is our view that this 
market has failed to materially change in over 25 years prior 
to our platform development.

Smartz™ complements AssessPLUS™ which is the portable, 
highly automated solution that is simple to use and an 
efficient method of assessing incontinence. AssessPLUS™ 
rapidly generates evidence based care plans for both home 
use and aged care operators. Over time, the AssessPLUS™ 
functionality will transition to the Smartz™ platform.

Simavita has been granted patented rights to this core 
technology.

The Group’s continued focus on cost management has 
resulted in the reduction of operating costs.

The Group’s sales strategy is to license our Smartz™ platform 
technology to major manufacturers whilst continuing to 
focus on government payers who support the disabled 
and aged. This shift in strategy has seen the Group largely 
eliminate those activities associated with direct sales. Going 
forward the Group will not hold inventory. The future strategy 
is based upon sustainable, high margin license fees with 
costs remaining proportionally flat. This shift in strategy has 
allowed reallocation of resources to focus on partnering our 
products. As previously foreshadowed, for the current period 
this has impacted sales receipts. Despite this, the net result 
has been a reduction in the loss incurred by the Group.

The company is in the process of filing and obtaining CE Mark 
registration by November 1, 2019. Our immediate objective 
is to license components of the Smartz™ platform to large 
corporates. The Group continues very active dialogue with 
a number of major organisations with specific interest in 
our platform technology. Key commercialisation activities 
are underway in major markets. These activities include 
delivering key product lines in conjunction with manufacturing 
partners; additional software development for key APPs and 
continuing strategic field testing with partner organisations.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

Statement of loss after tax
The Group reported a loss after tax for the year ended June 
30, 2019 of $3,934,216 which was $1,008,079 or 20% less 
than the loss incurred during the previous year ended June 
30, 2018 of $4,942,295. The reduced loss in the current year 
is principally attributable to:

 – Total operating expenses of $4,695,637 (excluding share-
based expense) had a decrease of $1,051,218 or 18% 
compared to $5,746,855 in the previous corresponding 
year. In addition, during the year the Company incurred 
$56,700 in share-based payments expenses compared 
to $84,510 in the previous year. Accordingly, overall 
total expenses reduced by $1,079,028 or 19% on a 
corresponding period basis.

 – Total income (including other income) for the reporting 
period was $905,090 a decrease of 18% compared 
to $1,109,251 in the previous corresponding period. 
Reductions in overall revenue reflect the elimination of 
direct sales in favour of its PIVOT strategy of focused 
sales through partnerships with companies with 
significant and synergistic sales. Sales have fallen from 
$411,344 for the year ending June 30, 2018 to $184,576 
for the year to June 30, 2019. 

 – Total comprehensive loss for the year was $3,932,355 a 
decrease of $1,014,070 or 21% compared to $4,946,425 
in the previous corresponding year.

Directors’ Report
for the year ended June 30, 2019
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Cash and cash equivalents
The Group’s cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 
June 30, 2019 decreased by $672,022 or 49% to $689,462 
as compared to $1,361,484 at the end of the previous 
financial year.

CHANGES TO CAPITAL STRUCTURE
On August 1, 2018 the Group issued 36,045,208 of CDIs on 
conversion of 2017 Convertible notes and accrued interest at 
a price of $0.04 per share.

 – On October 9, 2018 the Group issued 68,499,999 of CDIs at 
a price of $0.03 per share.

 – On November 21, 2018 the Group issued 3,333,331 of CDIs 
at a price of $0.03 per share.

 – On November 20, 2018 the Group granted 2,800,000 
unlisted options at a price of $0.035 per share to the 
Group’s employees.

 – During the year ended June 30, 2019 a total of 7,249,000 
unlisted options issued to current and former employees 
lapsed.

LIQUIDITY 
The Group has incurred losses before tax of $3,934,216 
(FY18: $4,942,295) for the year ended June 30, 2019 and 
net cash flows used in operations during the same period of 
$3,506,527 (FY18: $4,080,003). The Group’s cash balance 
as at June 30, 2019 was $689,462 (FY18: $1,361,484) 
whilst its working capital (defined to be current assets less 
total liabilities) was negative $2,321,950 (FY18: negative 
$1,803,194).

The following events occurred in the recent months and have 
had a positive bearing on the assessment by Directors as to 
the ability of the Group to continue as a going concern:

A Convertible Note agreement for $3,140,000 was approved 
by the shareholders at the Special General Meeting on June 
24, 2019 and is payable in 3 tranches. Payment of $500,000 
for Tranche 1 of these notes was received in April 2019. 
Tranche 2 payment of $1,640,000 was received in June and 
July 2019. The final Tranche 3 payment of $1,000,000 is due 
on November 1, 2019 pending management obtaining CE 
Mark registration together with confirmation of agreements 
with sufficient magnitude to evidence the market support 
for Smartz™.

During the financial year 2020, the Group will continue 
to focus on commercialising Smartz™ to grow revenue 
by obtaining CE Mark registration and securing relevant 
agreements. The commercialisation of Smartz™ will primarily 
occur through the licensing of Smartz™ technology to diaper 
manufacturers, distributors and retailers.

In addition, the Group will also continue to focus on 
government payers who support the disabled and aged.

The Group has indicated to the market its strong intention 
to complete a reorganisation. Details of this reorganisation 

will be announced in coming months. Fundamental to the 
reorganisation of the Group will be to raise sufficient capital 
by January 31, 2020 to fund major revenue opportunities 
particularly associated with Smartz™ for global Aged, 
Disabled and Infant markets.

There is uncertainty about the Group’s ability to materially 
grow revenue in a timely manner, raise capital on a timely 
basis with terms that are acceptable to shareholders and / 
or complete licensing agreements. The Group’s net liabilities 
at the statement of financial position date were $2,154,786 
(FY18: $1,765,756). The continuing viability of the Group and 
its ability to continue as a going concern and meet its debts 
and commitments as they fall due are dependent upon the 
following events occurring:

 – Achieving CE Mark registration of Smartz™, together with 
confirmation of agreements with sufficient magnitude 
to evidence market support for Smartz™ by November 1, 
2019.

 – Receiving the third tranche of funding to the value of 
$1,000,000 from convertible notes approved by the 
shareholders at the Special General Meeting on June 24, 
2019.

 – Delivering revenue or entering into agreements, which 
reasonably point toward market support for Smartz™ 
and prospects of short to medium term revenue of a 
commercial nature.

 – Progressing key commercialisation activities in major 
markets.

 – Obtaining continued support from third party finance 
facility related to the Group’s R&D tax incentive claim.

 – Continuing cost containment strategies. Subject to the 
availability of financing, one off commercialization costs in 
FY 2020 will increase to deliver product enhancements to 
meet customer demands.

 – The continued support of the Group’s shareholders in 
the provision of ongoing working capital to capture new 
opportunities as they arise and maintaining sufficient 
cash reserves to trade into the 2020 Financial Year. This 
includes successfully raising further capital through the 
issue of new shares and/or the issue of convertible notes.

Due to the uncertainty surrounding the above matters, 
there is material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt 
upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and, 
therefore, that it may be unable to realise its assets and 
liabilities in the normal course of business. However, at the 
date of this report the Directors believe that the Group will 
be successful in the above matters and, accordingly, have 
prepared the financial report on a going concern basis.

The Group’s auditor included an emphasis matter paragraph 
in the Audit Report for the Financial Statements for year 
ended June 30, 2019 relating to the Group’s ability to continue 
as a going concern (refer Note 2(a) Going concern).

Currently, there are no significant seasonality factors that 
influence the Group’s business.
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INSURANCE OF OFFICERS AND INDEMNITIES
During the financial year, the Group paid a premium of 
$82,432 to insure the directors and the officers of the Group.

The liabilities insured are legal costs that may be incurred in 
defending civil or criminal proceedings that may be brought 
against the officers in their capacity as officers of entities 
in the Group, and any other payments arising from liabilities 
incurred by the officers in connection with such proceedings. 
This does not include such liabilities that arise from conduct 
involving a wilful breach of duty by the officers or the 
improper use by the officers of their position or of information 
to gain advantage for themselves or someone else or to 
cause detriment to the Group. It is not possible to apportion 
the premium between amounts relating to the insurance 
against legal costs and those relating to other liabilities.

NON-AUDIT SERVICES
The Group may decide to employ the auditor on assignments 
additional to their statutory audit duties where the auditor’s 
expertise and experience with the Group are important.

The Board of Directors has considered the position and 
is satisfied that the provision of the non-audit services is 
compatible with the general standard of independence for 
auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. The directors 
are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services by the 
auditor, as set out below, did not compromise the auditor 
independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 for 
the following reasons:

 – all non-audit services have been reviewed by the Audit 
and Risk committee to ensure they do not impact the 
impartiality and objectivity of the auditor

 – none of the services undermine the general principles 
relating to auditor independence as set out in APES 110 
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants.

There has been $16,000 paid to the auditor for advice 
relating Research and Development Tax Incentive during the 
financial year for non-audit services, compared to FY18, when 
fees totalling $55,080 were paid to the auditor for services 
provided in relation to Research and Development Tax 
Incentive and $7,322 to PWC Vietnam for assistance with the 
stocktake in Vietnam.

Dividends and distributions
No dividends have been paid since the end of the previous 
financial year, nor have the Directors recommended that any 
dividend be declared or paid in the foreseeable future. Rather, 
the Group intends to retain any earnings to finance its future 
growth and development. 

Any future payment of cash dividends will be dependent upon, 
amongst other things, the Group’s future earnings, financial 
condition, capital requirements, and such other factors as the 
Board of Directors may deem relevant at that time.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER BALANCE SHEET DATE 
Company received balance of Tranche 2 payment amounting 
to $750,000 from 2019 Convertible Note investors during July 
2019.

ROUNDING OF AMOUNTS
The Group is of a kind referred to ASIC Legislative Instrument 
2016/191, relating to the “rounding off” of amounts in 
the directors’ report and financial report. Amounts in the 
Directors’ report and financial report have been rounded off 
to the nearest dollar in accordance with the instrument.

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATIONS
The Group is not aware of any breaches of any environmental 
regulation as at year end June 30, 2019.

PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF THE GROUP
No proceedings have been brought or intervened in or on 
behalf of the Group with leave to the Court.

DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION
The financial statements were authorized for issue by the 
Directors on August 30, 2019.

The Directors have the power to amend and reissue the 
financial statements.

Michael R. Spooner 
Chairman

Damien M. Haakman 
Director

Directors’ Report
for the year ended June 30, 2019
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Corporate Governance Statement
for the year ended June 30, 2019

The Group and the Board are committed to achieving and demonstrating the highest standards of corporate governance.

The Group has reviewed its corporate governance practices against the Corporate Governance Principles and 
Recommendations (3rd edition) published by the ASX Corporate Governance Council.

The 2019 corporate governance statement is dated as at August 29, 2019 and reflects the corporate governance practices in 
place throughout the 2019 financial year. 

A description of the Group’s current corporate governance practice is set out in the Group’s corporate governance statement 
which can be viewed at http://www.simavita.com/docs/Corporate_Governance_Statement_August_2019.pdf
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Consolidated

Notes

June 30,  
2019

$

June 30,  
2018

$

Revenue 4  184,576  411,344 

 Cost of sales  (86,969)  (220,181)

Gross profit  97,607  191,163 

Other income 5  720,514  697,907 

Expenses

 Finance costs  (224,663)  (233,614)

 General and administration  (1,870,821)  (2,093,952)

 Occupancy costs  (143,219)  (376,677)

 Research and development  (1,109,442)  (1,207,680)

 Sales, marketing and distribution  (1,347,492)  (1,834,932)

 Share-based payments expense  (56,700)  (84,510)

Loss before income tax  (3,934,216)  (4,942,295)

Income tax 8 – –

Loss for the year  (3,934,216)  (4,942,295)

Other comprehensive income

 Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit/ (loss)

 Translation of foreign operation  1,861  (4,130)

Total comprehensive loss for the year  (3,932,355)  (4,946,425)

Cents Cents

Earnings per share for loss from continuing operations attributable to the ordinary 
equity holders of the Group:

Basic loss per common share 7  (0.01)  (0.02)

Diluted loss per common share 7  (0.01)  (0.02)

Earnings per share for loss attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Group:

Basic loss per common share 7  (0.01)  (0.02)

Diluted loss per common share 7  (0.01)  (0.02)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Loss 
for the year ended June 30, 2019
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Consolidated

Notes

June 30,  
2019

$

June 30,  
2018

$

Assets

Current Assets

 Cash and cash equivalents 10  689,462  1,361,484 

 Trade and other receivables 11  695,934  792,934 

 Inventories 12 –  207,008 

 Other assets  140,300  167,875 

Total Current Assets  1,525,696  2,529,301 

Non-Current Assets

 Property, plant and equipment 13  149,869  8,315 

 Intangible assets 14  23,113  29,123 

Total Non-Current assets  172,982  37,438 

Total Assets  1,698,678  2,566,739 

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity

Liabilities

Current Liabilities

 Trade and other payables 15  398,609  576,010 

 Borrowings 17  3,248,934  3,533,041 

 Provisions 16  197,343  143,370 

Total Current Liabilities  3,844,886  4,252,421 

Non-Current Liabilities

 Provisions 16  8,578  80,074 

Total Non-Current Liabilities  8,578  80,074 

Total Liabilities  3,853,464  4,332,495 

Shareholders’ Equity

 Share capital 18  69,729,681  66,243,056 

 Reserves 19  1,502,308  1,811,130 

 Accumulated losses 20  (73,386,775)  (69,819,942)

Total Shareholders' Equity  (2,154,786)  (1,765,756)

Total Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity  1,698,678  2,566,739 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
as at June 30, 2019
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Share Capital
$

Reserves
$

Accumulated 
Losses

$
Totals

$

Balance at July 1, 2017  66,243,056  2,914,723  (66,061,620)  3,096,159 

Net Loss for the year – –  (4,942,295)  (4,942,295)

Other comprehensive income, net of tax –  (4,130) –  (4,130)

Total comprehensive loss for the year –  (4,130)  (4,942,295)  (4,946,425)

Transactions with owners

Issue of common shares for cash – – – –

Movement in Share-based payments reserve –  84,510 –  84,510 

Reversal of lapsed options vested not exercised –  (1,183,973)  1,183,973 –

Equity transaction costs – – – –

Cancellation of fractional shares – – – –

Total transactions with owners –  (1,099,463)  1,183,973  84,510 

Balance at June 30, 2018  66,243,056  1,811,130  (69,819,942)  (1,765,756)

Balance at July 1, 2018  66,243,056  1,811,130  (69,819,942)  (1,765,756)

Net Loss for the year – –  (3,934,216)  (3,934,216)

Other comprehensive income, net of tax –  1,861 –  1,861 

Total comprehensive loss for the year –  1,861  (3,934,216)  (3,932,355)

Transactions with owners

Issue of common shares for cash  2,155,000 – –  2,155,000 

Issue of common shares from conversion of convertible notes  1,441,808 – –  1,441,808 

Movement in share-based payments reserve –  56,700 –  56,700 

Reversal of lapsed options vested not exercised –  (367,383)  367,383 –

Equity transaction costs  (110,183) – –  (110,183)

Total transactions with owners  3,486,625  (310,683)  367,383  3,543,325 

Balance at June 30, 2019  69,729,681  1,502,308  (73,386,775)  (2,154,786)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
for the year ended June 30, 2019
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Consolidated

Notes

June 30,  
2019

$

June 30,  
2018

$

Cash flows from/(used in) operating activities

Loss for the year  (3,934,216)  (4,942,295)

Non-cash items

Depreciation and amortization  18,637  50,670 

Share-based payments expenses  56,700  84,510 

Unrealised foreign exchange movements  3,972  (10,497)

Accrued interest on borrowings and convertible notes  211,721  172,619 

Changes in working capital

(Increase)/decrease in receivables  97,000 544,495 

(Increase)/decrease in inventories 207,008 283,620 

(Increase)/decrease in prepayments 27,575 (61,210)

Increase/(decrease) in payables  (177,401)  (160,594)

Increase/(decrease) in provisions  (17,523)  (41,321)

Net cash flows from/(used in) operating activities  (3,506,527)  (4,080,003)

Cash flows from/(used in) investing activities

Purchases of plant and equipment  (154,181)  (177)

Purchases of intangible assets –  (224)

Proceeds from the sale of plant and equipment – –

Net cash flows from/(used in) investing activities  (154,181)  (401)

Cash flows from/(used in) financing activities

Proceeds from the issue of shares by the Company  2,155,000 –

Proceeds from the borrowings  253,754  1,305,461 

Proceeds from the issue of convertible notes  1,390,000  2,750,000 

Repayment of the borrowings  (708,871)  (695,039)

Equity transaction costs  (110,183) –

Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities  2,979,700  3,360,422 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents held  (681,008)  (719,982)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of year  1,361,484  2,072,353 

Net foreign exchange differences on cash and cash equivalents  8,986  9,113 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of year 10  689,462  1,361,484 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
for the year ended June 30, 2019
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The group also elected to adopt the following amendments 
early:

 – AASB 2018-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards - Annual Improvements 2015-2017 Cycle

Most of the other amendments listed above did not have 
any impact on the amounts recognised in prior periods 
and are  not expected to significantly affect the current 
or future periods.

Going concern
The Group has incurred losses before tax of $3,934,216 
(2018: $4,942,295) for period ended June 30, 2019 and 
net cash flows used in operations during the same period 
of $3,506,527 (2018: $4,080,003). The Group’s cash reserves 
as at June 30, 2019 were $689,462 (2018: $1,361,484). 
The Group’s was in a net current asset deficiency as at 
June  30, 2019 of $2,319,190 (2018: net current assets 
deficiency of $1,723,120).

The following events occurred in the recent months and have 
had a positive bearing on the assessment by Directors as to 
the ability of the Group to continue as a going concern:

A Convertible Note agreement for $3,140,000 was approved 
by the shareholders at the Special General Meeting 
on June 24, 2019 and is payable in 3 tranches. Payment 
of  $500,000 for Tranche 1 of these notes was received 
in April 2019. Tranche 2 payment of $1,640,000 was received 
in June and July 2019. The final Tranche 3 payment of 
$1,000,000 is due on November 1, 2019 pending management 
obtaining CE Mark registration together with confirmation of 
agreements with sufficient magnitude to evidence the market 
support for Smartz™.

During the financial year 2020, the Group will continue 
to focus on commercialising Smartz™ to grow revenue 
by obtaining CE Mark registration and securing relevant 
agreements. The commercialisation of Smartz™ will primarily 
occur through the licensing of Smartz™ technology to diaper 
manufacturers, distributors and retailers.

In addition, the Group will also continue to focus on 
government payers who support the disabled and aged.

The Group has indicated to the market its strong intention 
to complete a reorganisation. Details of this reorganisation 
will be announced in coming months. Fundamental to the 
reorganisation of the Group will be to raise sufficient capital 
by January 31, 2020 to fund major revenue opportunities 
particularly associated with Smartz™ for global Aged, 
Disabled and Infant markets.

1. NATURE AND CONTINUANCE OF OPERATIONS
Simavita Limited (the “Group”) was incorporated under the 
laws of the Yukon Territory on May 28, 1968 and continued 
under the laws of the Province of British Columbia, Canada on 
December 3, 2013.

Simavita’s patented technologies provide sensors for all 
segments of the USD 64 billion diaper market from extremely 
low cost alert sensors for everyday use, particularly focused 
upon the adult and infant markets to the assessment of 
incontinence needs for the aged and disabled. The alert 
technology, Smartz™, is addressing the demand for change 
in the global diaper market.

Simavita operates in Australia, Europe and North America 
where there is a significant and growing demand for products 
that deliver real clinical and cost benefits to the health care 
industry.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Basis of preparation
These general purpose financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards 
and interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board. The Group is a for-profit entity for the 
purpose of preparing the financial statements.

The financial statements comprise the consolidated financial 
statements of the consolidated entity. Accounting Standards 
include Australian Accounting Standards. Compliance with 
Australian Accounting Standards ensures that the financial 
statements and notes of the Group comply with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

Historical cost convention
The financial statements have been prepared on a historical 
cost bases, except for the following:

 – certain financial assets and liabilities (including derivative 
instruments) - measured at fair value

New and amended standards adopted by the group
The group has applied the following standards and 
amendments for the first time for their annual reporting 
period commencing July 1, 2018.

 – AASB 9 Financial Instruments
 – AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
 – AASB 2016-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting 

Standards -Classification and Measurement of Share-based 
Payment Transactions

 – AASB 2017-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards - Transfers to Investment Property, Annual 
Improvements 2014-2016 Cycle and Other Amendments

 – Interpretation 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and 
Advance Consideration

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended June 30, 2019
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2.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(CONTINUED)

(a) Basis of preparation (continued)
There is uncertainty about the Group’s ability to materially 
grow revenue in a timely manner, raise capital on a timely 
basis with terms that are acceptable to shareholders and / or 
complete licensing agreements. The viability of the Group and 
its ability to continue as a going concern and meet its debts 
and commitments as they fall due are dependent upon:

 – Achieving CE Mark registration of Smartz™, together 
with confirmation of agreements with sufficient magnitude 
to evidence market support for Smartz™ by November 1, 
2019.

 – Receiving the third tranche of funding to the value of 
$1,000,000 from convertible notes approved by the 
shareholders at the Special General Meeting on June 24, 
2019.

 – Deliver revenue or enter into agreements, which 
reasonably point toward market support for Smartz™ 
and prospects of short to medium term revenue of 
a  commercial nature.

 – Progress key commercialisation activities in major 
markets.

 – Continuing cost containment strategies.
 – Obtaining continued support from third party finance 

facility related to the Group’s R&D tax incentive claim.
 – Obtaining continued support of the Group’s shareholders 

in the provision of ongoing working capital to capture new 
opportunities as they arise and maintaining sufficient 
cash reserves to trade into the 2020 Financial Year. 
This includes successfully raising additional working 
capital through the issue of new shares and/or the issue 
of  convertible notes.

Due to the uncertainty surrounding the above matters, 
there is material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt 
upon the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern 
and, therefore, whether it may be unable to realise its assets 
and liabilities in the normal course of business. However, 
the Directors believe that the Group will be successful in the 
above matters and, accordingly, have prepared the financial 
report on a going concern basis. 

The Group’s auditor included an emphasis of matter 
paragraph in the June 30, 2019 Audit Report relating to the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Currently, there are no significant seasonality factors that 
influence the Group’s business.

(b) Basis of consolidation
These consolidated financial statements include the 
accounts of the Group and the entities it controlled, 
being Simavita Holdings Limited, Simavita (Aust.) Pty. Ltd., 
Simavita US, Inc. and Fred Bergman Healthcare Pty. Ltd. 
A Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, 
to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and 
has the  ability to affect those returns through its power 
over the entity. Intracompany balances and transactions, 
including any unrealised income and expenses arising from 
any intracompany transactions, are eliminated in preparing 
the consolidated financial statements. The functional and 
presentation currency of the Group and its subsidiaries is the 
Australian dollar.

(c) Changes in accounting policies
The following standards and amendments to standards 
and interpretations are effective for annual periods following 
July 1, 2018 and have been applied in preparing these 
consolidated financial statements:

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
It provides clarification for recognizing revenue from 
contracts with customers and establishes a single revenue 
recognition and measurement framework that applies to 
contracts with customers. The new standard is effective for 
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with 
early adoption permitted. Management has examined the 
following areas of AASB 15:

i. Accounting for refunds - Customers have right to return 
the product within a given time period and the Company 
is obliged to refund the purchase price. Under AASB 15, 
a refund liability for the expected refunds to customers 
is recognised as adjustment to revenue in trade and 
other payables. Prior to introduction of the AASB 15, 
the Company did not make any specific provisions against 
possible refunds but recognized the refunds as adjustment 
to the revenue. No changes to the accounting treatment 
have been necessary as result of adoption of AASB 15.

ii.  Software subscription revenue - The company provides 
customers with access to the cloud server to perform 
incontinence assessments. The revenue is recognized 
in the accounting period covered by the software licence 
and this treatment is consistent with AASB 15 resulting 
in no changes to the revenue recognition policy.

iii.  Financing components - The company does not expect to 
have any contracts where the period between the transfer 
of the promised goods or services to the customer 
and payment by the customer exceeds one year. As 
a consequence, the group does not adjust any of the 
transaction prices for the time value of money.

In conclusion, management has established that there has 
been no material impact of the adoption of AASB 15 on the 
Group’s financial statements and prior period comparison 
figures have not been restated.
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2.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(CONTINUED)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (continued)

AASB 9 Financial Instruments
This standard is intended to replace AASB 39 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement and uses a 
single approach to determine whether a financial asset 
is measured at amortized cost or fair value, replacing the 
multiple rules in AASB 39. For financial liabilities designated 
at fair value through profit or loss, a Group can recognize 
the portion of the change in fair value related to the change 
in the Group’s own credit risk through other comprehensive 
income rather than profit or loss. The new standard also 
requires a single impairment method to be used, replacing the 
multiple impairment methods in AASB 39, and incorporates 
new hedge accounting requirements. The new standard is 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 
1, 2018. Management has established that the company’s 
prior treatment of financial assets and financial liabilities, 
in particular the convertible notes have been performed 
in accordance with AASB 9 and there has been no 
material impact of the adoption of AASB 9 on the Group’s 
financial statements.

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have 
been published that are not mandatory for June 30, 2019 
reporting periods and have not been early adopted by the 
Group. The Group’s assessment of the impact of these new 
standards and interpretations is set out below. 

AASB 16 Leases
AASB 16 Leases will primarily affect the accounting by 
lessees and will result in the recognition of almost all leases 
on the statement of financial position. The standard removes 
the current distinction between operating and financing 
leases and requires recognition of an asset (the right to use 
the leased item) and financial liability to pay rentals for almost 
all of the lease contracts. The accounting by lessors, however, 
will not significantly change. The standard will affect primarily 
the accounting for the group’s operating leases. As at the 
reporting date, the group has non-cancellable operating lease 
commitments of $126,533. However, the group has not yet 
determined to what extent these commitments will result in 
the recognition of an asset and a liability for future payments 
and how this will affect the group’s profit and classification 
of cash flows. Some of the commitments may be covered 
by the exception for short-term and low-value leases and 
some commitments may relate to arrangements that will 
not qualify as leases under AASB 16 The new standard will 
result in extended disclosures in the financial statements. 
The new standard is effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after January 1, 2019, with early adoption permitted. 
The Group does not intend to adopt the standard before its 
effective date.

(d) Revenue
Revenue is recognised at a point in time, or over time, based 
on the principles of AASB 15. Management has used sufficient 
and appropriate tools as guided by the standard, enabling the 
Group to reach consistent conclusions in recognising revenue. 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated 
customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances.

Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognized when all of the 
following conditions are satisfied:

 – The Group has transferred to the buyer the controls of 
ownership of the goods; 

 – The Group retains neither continuing managerial 
involvement to the degree usually associated with 
ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

 – The amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
 – It is probable that the economic benefits associated with 

the transaction will flow to the Group; and
 – The costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the 

transaction can be measured reliably.

Rendering of services
Revenue from a contract to provide services is recognized 
by reference to the stage of completion of the contract. The 
stage of completion of the contract is determined as follows:

 – Servicing fees included in the price of products sold are 
recognized by reference to the proportion of the total 
cost of providing the servicing for the product sold, taking 
into account historical trends in the number of services 
actually provided on past goods sold.

Interest revenue
 – Interest revenue is accrued on a time basis, by reference 

to the principal outstanding using the effective interest 
rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life 
of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount.

(e) Share-based payments
The Group provides benefits to employees and others in the 
form of share-based payment transactions, whereby officers 
and employees render services and receive rights over shares 
(“equity-settled transactions”). The cost of these transactions 
is measured by reference to the fair value at the date they are 
granted. The fair value of options granted is determined using 
a Black-Scholes option pricing model.

In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is taken 
of any non-market performance conditions. The cost of 
equity-settled transactions is recognized, together with a 
corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which 
the relevant vesting conditions are fulfilled, ending on the 
date that the relevant employees become fully entitled to 
the award (“vesting date”).

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended June 30, 2019
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2.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(CONTINUED)

(e) Share-based payments (continued)
The cumulative expense recognized for equity-settled 
transactions at each reporting date until vesting date 
reflects (i) the extent to which the vesting period has expired; 
and (ii) the number of awards that, in the opinion of the 
Directors of the Group, will ultimately vest. This opinion 
is formed based on the most current information available 
at balance date.

No expense is recognized for any awards that do not 
ultimately vest. Where the terms of an equity-settled award 
are modified, as a minimum, an expense is recognized as if 
the terms had not been modified. In addition, an expense is 
recognized for any increase in the value of the transaction 
as a result of the modification, as measured at the date 
of modification. Where appropriate, the dilutive effect of 
outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution 
in the computation of diluted earnings per share.

The Group’s policy is to treat the share options of terminated 
employees as forfeitures, after 90 days in accordance with 
the terms of the Group Stock Option Plan.

(f) Income tax

Current tax
Current tax is calculated by reference to the amount of 
income taxes payable or recoverable in respect of the taxable 
profit or taxable loss for the period. It is calculated using tax 
rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by reporting date. Current tax for current and prior 
periods is recognized as a liability (or asset) to the extent 
that is it unpaid (or refundable). The tax rate adopted in the 
calculation of all tax balances is the tax rate applicable in 
Australia as that is deemed to be the most meaningful rate 
based on the nature of the Group’s activities.

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is accounted for in respect of temporary 
differences between the tax base of an asset or liability and 
its carrying amount in the statement of financial position. The 
tax base of an asset or liability is the amount attributed to that 
asset or liability for tax purposes.

In principle, deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all 
taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are 
recognized to the extent that it is probable that sufficient 
taxable amounts will be available against which deductible 
temporary differences or unused tax losses and tax offsets 
can be utilized.

However, deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognized 
if the temporary differences giving rise to them arise from 
the initial recognition of assets and liabilities (other than as 
a result of a business combination) which affects neither 
taxable income nor accounting profit. Furthermore, a deferred 
tax liability is not recognized in relation to taxable temporary 
differences arising from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax 
rates that are expected to apply to the period(s) when the 
asset and liability giving rise to them are realised or settled, 
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by reporting date. The measurement 
of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax 
consequences that would follow from the manner in which 
the Group expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle 
the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when they relate 
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and 
the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities 
on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax for the period
Current and deferred tax is recognized as an expense or 
income in the statement of comprehensive income, except 
when it relates to items credited or debited directly to equity, 
in which case the deferred tax is also recognized directly 
in equity, or where it arises from the initial accounting for a 
business combination, in which case it is taken into account 
in the determination of goodwill or excess.

Tax consolidation
Simavita Holdings Limited (the “Head Entity”) and its wholly 
owned Australian controlled entities have formed an income 
tax consolidated group under the tax consolidation regime. 
As at June 30, 2019 the Group had not yet generated 
a profit from the commercialization of its intellectual 
property. Accordingly, no deferred tax assets arising from 
carried forward losses and temporary differences have yet 
been recognized.

(g) Foreign currency translation

(i) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the 
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the entity operates 
(“the functional currency”). The consolidated financial 
statements are presented in Australian dollar ($), which 
is the Group’s functional and presentation currency.
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2.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(CONTINUED)

(g) Foreign currency translation (continued)

(ii) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the 
functional currency using the exchange rates at the dates of 
the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting 
from the settlement of such transactions and from the 
translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies at year end exchange rates are generally 
recognized in profit or loss. They are deferred in equity if 
they relate to qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying 
net investments hedges or are attributable to part of the net 
investment in a foreign operation.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings 
are presented in the statement of profit or loss, within 
finance costs. All other foreign exchange gains and losses 
are presented in the statement of profit or loss on a net basis 
within other income or other expenses.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a 
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at 
the date when the fair value was determined. Translation 
differences on assets and liabilities carried at fair value are 
reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. For example, 
translation differences on non-monetary assets and liabilities 
such as equities held at fair value through profit or loss are 
recognized in profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or 
loss and translation differences on non-monetary assets 
such as equities classified as available-for-sale financial 
assets are recognized in other comprehensive income.

(h) Segment reporting

Identification of reportable segments
The Group has identified one reportable business segment 
based on the similarity of the products manufactured 
and sold and/or the services provided, being the sale of 
products and services associated with the assessment and 
management of urinary incontinence and related conditions, 
as this represents the source of the Group’s major risk and 
has the greatest effect on the rates of return.

The Group has identified two reportable geographic 
segments, being Australia and Rest of the World, based on 
the jurisdiction where the sales and marketing associated 
with such products occurs.

The segments are reported in a manner that is consistent 
with the internal reporting provided to the Board.

(i) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial 
position comprise cash at bank and in hand and short-term 
deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. For 
the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash 
equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined 
above. Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based 
on daily bank deposit rates. Short-term deposits are made 
for varying periods of between one day and three months, 
depending on the Group’s immediate cash requirements, and 
earn interest at the respective short-term deposit rates.

(j) Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables, which are non-interest bearing and 
generally have terms of between 30 to 90 days, are 
recognized and carried at original invoice amount less an 
allowance for any uncollectible amounts. An allowance for 
doubtful debts is made when there is objective evidence 
that a receivable is impaired. Such evidence includes an 
assessment of the debtor’s ability and willingness to pay the 
amount due. The amount of the allowance/ impairment loss 
is measured as the difference between the carrying amount 
of the trade receivables and the estimated future cash flows 
expected to be received from the relevant debtors.

(k) Inventories
Inventories principally comprise finished goods and raw 
materials and are valued at the lower of cost and net 
realizable value. Inventory costs are recognized as the 
purchase price of items from suppliers plus freight inwards 
and any applicable landing charges. Costs are assigned on 
the basis of weighted average cost. The Group has a policy 
of regularly reviewing the value of inventory on hand. At the 
end of the year, the Group has provided the full amount of 
$520,698 the inventory to cover the cost of inventory which 
could be considered slow moving.

(l) Property, plant and equipment
Plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any impairment in value. Depreciation is 
calculated on a straight-line value basis over the estimated 
useful life of the respective asset as follows:

Office equipment – 2.5 years

Equipment under lease – 3 years

Testing equipment – 3.33 years

Furniture and fittings – 5 years

Costs relating to day-to-day servicing of any item of property, 
plant and equipment are recognized in profit or loss as 
incurred. The cost of replacing larger parts of some items of 
property, plant and equipment are capitalized when incurred 
and depreciated over the period until their next scheduled 
replacement, with the replacement parts being subsequently 
written off.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended June 30, 2019
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2.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(CONTINUED)

(m) Intangible assets

Patents
Patents held by the Group, which are used in the manufacture 
of its incontinence system and electronic device components, 
are carried at cost and amortized on a straight-line basis 
over their useful lives, being from 5 to 10 years. External 
costs incurred in filing and protecting patent applications, for 
which no future benefit is reasonably assured, are expensed 
as incurred.

Research and development costs
Costs relating to research and development activities are 
expensed as incurred. An intangible asset arising from 
development expenditure on an internal project is recognized 
only when the Group can demonstrate the technical 
feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will 
be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its 
ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate 
future economic benefits, the availability of resources to 
complete the development and the ability to measure reliably 
the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during 
its development. To date, all development costs have been 
expensed as incurred as their recoverability cannot be 
regarded as assured.

(n) Impairment of assets
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there 
is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such 
indication exists, the Group makes an estimate of the asset’s 
recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the 
higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use 
and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset 
does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent 
of those from other assets or groups of assets and the 
asset’s value-in-use cannot be estimated to be close to its 
fair value. In such cases, the asset is tested for impairment as 
part of the cash-generating unit to which it belongs. When the 
carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds 
its recoverable amount, the asset or cash-generating unit is 
considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable 
amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash 
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of 
the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 
Impairment losses relating to operations are recognized in 
those expense categories consistent with the function of 
the impaired asset unless the asset is carried at its revalued 
amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a 
revaluation decrease.

An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether 
there is any indication that previously recognized impairment 
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such 
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A 
previously recognized impairment loss is reversed only if 
there has been a change in the estimates used to determine 
the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment 
loss was recognized. If so, the carrying amount of the asset is 
increased to its recoverable amount. The increased amount 
cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss 
been recognized for the asset in prior years. Such reversal 
is recognized in profit or loss unless it reverses a decrement 
previously charged to equity, in which case the reversal is 
treated as a revaluation increase. After such a reversal, the 
depreciation charge is adjusted in future periods to allocate 
the asset’s revised carrying amount, less any residual value, 
on a systematic basis over its remaining useful life.

(o) Trade and other payables
Trade payables and other payables are carried at amortized 
cost and represent liabilities for goods and services provided 
to the Group prior to the end of the financial year that are 
unpaid and arise when the Group becomes obliged to make 
future payments in respect of the purchase of these goods 
and services. Trade payables and other payables generally 
have terms of between 30 and 60 days.

(p)	 Employee	benefits
Provision is made for employee benefits accumulated as a 
result of employees rendering services up to the reporting 
date. These benefits include wages and salaries, annual 
leave and long service leave. Liabilities arising in respect of 
wages and salaries, annual leave and any other employee 
benefits expected to be settled within twelve months of the 
reporting date are measured at their nominal amounts based 
on remuneration rates which are expected to be paid when 
the liability is settled. All other employee benefit liabilities 
are measured at the present value of the estimated future 
cash outflows to be made in respect of services provided by 
employees up to the reporting date using the projected unit 
credit method. Expenses for non-accumulating sick leave are 
recognized when the leave is taken during the year and are 
measured at rates paid or payable.

In determining the present value of future cash outflows, 
the market yield as at the reporting date on corporate bond 
rates, which have terms to maturity approximating the terms 
of the related liability, are used. Employee benefits expenses 
and revenues arising in respect of wages and salaries, non-
monetary benefits, annual leave, long service leave and other 
leave benefits and other types of employee benefits are 
recognized against profits in their respective categories.



Simavita Limited30

2.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(CONTINUED)

(q) Provisions
Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present 
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, 
it  is probable that an outflow of resources embodying 
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation 
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation. Where the Group expects some or all of a provision 
to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognized as a 
separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually 
certain. The expense relating to any provision is presented 
in the statement of comprehensive income net of any 
reimbursement.

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions 
are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows 
at a pre-tax rate that reflects market assessments of the time 
value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to 
the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase in the 
provision due to the passage of time is recognized as a 
finance cost.

(r) Contributed equity
Issued and paid up capital is recognized at the fair value of 
the consideration received by the Group. Transaction costs 
arising on the issue of common shares are recognized 
directly in equity as a deduction, net of tax, of the proceeds 
received. 

3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
Estimates and judgements are evaluated and based on 
historical experience and other factors, including expectations 
of future events that may have a financial impact on the 
Group and that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances.

3a. Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
The carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities are 
often determined based on estimates and assumptions of 
future events. The key estimates and assumptions that have 
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying value of certain assets and liabilities within the next 
annual reporting period are set out below.

Share-based payments transactions
The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions 
with employees by reference to the value of the equity 
instruments at the date on which they are granted. 
The fair value is determined by an independent valuer using 
a Black-Scholes options pricing model.

3b. Critical judgments in applying the Group’s accounting 
policies

Research and development costs
An intangible asset arising from development expenditure 
on an internal project is recognized only when the Group 
can demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing 
the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or 
sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the 
asset, how the asset will generate future economic benefits, 
the availability of resources to complete the development and 
the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable 
to the intangible asset during its development.

To date, all development costs have been expensed 
as incurred as their recoverability cannot be regarded 
as assured. The costs of research and development are 
expensed in full in the period in which they are incurred. 
The Group will only capitalize its development expenses 
when specific milestones are met and when the Group is able 
to demonstrate that future economic benefits are probable.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended June 30, 2019
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4. REVENUE FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS

Consolidated
June 30, 2019

$
June 30, 2018

$

Sales revenue:

– Sale of goods  43,177  208,392 

– Services  141,399  202,952 

Total revenue  184,576  411,344 

5. OTHER INCOME

– Interest revenue  4,392  5,375 

– Sale of mining rights  51,172  51,212 

– R&D tax incentive  664,950  641,320 

Total other income  720,514  697,907 

6. EXPENSES

Amortization of intangible assets  6,010  14,025 

Depreciation of fixed assets  12,627  36,645 

Total depreciation and amortization  18,637  50,670 

Employee expenses  2,139,182  3,056,328 

Employee benefit expenses  153,857  179,754 

R&D expenses (excluding employee benefits)  360,898  322,714 

Finance costs  224,663  233,614 

Note:  Employee expenses represent all salaries, bonuses, redundancies and associated on-costs attributable to employees of the Group, which 
have been allocated across their respective functions in the statement of comprehensive loss.

7. LOSS PER SHARE

Loss for the year attributable to the owners of Simavita Limited  (3,934,216)  (4,942,295)

Weighted average number of shares used to calculate loss per share  394,554,078  309,899,594 

Note:  None of the 22,444,844 (2018: 26,893,844) options over the Group’s ordinary shares that were outstanding as at the reporting date are 
considered to be dilutive for the purposes of calculating diluted earnings per share.

Cents Cents

(a) Basic earnings per share

From continuing operations attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Group  (0.01)  (0.02)

Total basic losses per share attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Group  (0.01)  (0.02)

(b) Diluted earnings per share

From continuing operations attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Group  (0.01)  (0.02)

Total diluted losses per share attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Group  (0.01)  (0.02)
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8. INCOME TAX

Consolidated
June 30, 2019 

$
June 30, 2018 

$

Reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax expense

Loss before income tax expense  (3,934,216)  (4,942,295)

Tax at the Australian tax rate of 27.5%  (1,081,909)  (1,359,131)

Tax effect of adjustments relating to non-temporary differences

Research and development income  (182,861)  (176,363)

Research and development expenses  420,371  462,325 

Share-based payments expense  15,593  23,240 

Other  131,979  202,430 

Tax effect of adjustments relating to temporary differences

Deductible equity transaction costs  (50,888)  (243,603)

Net movements in provisions and payables  (15,923)  35,902 

Unrealised foreign exchange gain  (2,801)  (4,009)

 (766,439)  (1,059,209)

Tax rate differential due to other tax jurisdictions  (10,371)  (24,833)

Tax losses not recognized  (776,811)  (1,084,042)

Deferred tax assets/(liabilities)

Equity transaction costs  99,900  128,136 

Provisions and payables  209,243  216,485 

Accrued expenses  6,174  8,732 

Patents  150,466  143,951 

Deferred income –  5,156 

Other  85  (3,063)

 465,868  499,397 

Deferred tax assets on temporary differences not brought to account  (465,868)  (499,397)

Total net deferred tax assets – –

Tax losses (tax effected)

Australia  12,897,483  12,623,318 

Canada  1,349,747  708,894 

United States of America  1,204,998  1,069,773 

Total deferred tax assets on tax losses not recognized  15,452,228  14,401,985 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended June 30, 2019
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8. INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)
Subject to the Group continuing to meet the relevant statutory tests, tax losses are available for offset against future taxable 
income. As at balance date, there are unrecognized tax losses with a benefit of approximately $15,452,228 (2018: $14,401,985) 
that have not been recognized as a deferred tax asset to the Group. These unrecognized deferred tax assets will only be 
obtained if:

(a) The Group companies derive future assessable income of a nature and amount sufficient to enable the benefits to be realised;

(b) The Group companies continue to comply with the conditions for deductibility imposed by the law; and

(c) No changes in tax legislation adversely affect the Group companies from realizing the benefit. 

Tax consolidation legislation
Simavita Holdings Limited (the “Head Entity”) and its wholly owned Australian controlled entities have formed an income tax 
consolidated group under the tax consolidation regime. As at June 30, 2019, the Group had not yet generated a profit from 
the commercialization of its intellectual property. Accordingly, no deferred tax assets arising from carried forward losses and 
temporary differences have yet been recognized.

9. DIVIDENDS AND DISTRIBUTIONS
No dividends have been paid since the end of the previous financial year, nor have the Directors recommended that any dividend 
be declared or paid in the foreseeable future. Rather, the Group intends to retain any earnings to finance its future growth and 
development. 

Any future payment of cash dividends will be dependent upon, amongst other things, the Group’s future earnings, financial 
condition, capital requirements, and such other factors as the Board of Directors may deem relevant at that time.

10. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Consolidated
June 30, 2019 

$
June 30, 2018 

$

Cash at bank and on-hand  689,462  1,361,484 

Total cash and cash equivalents  689,462  1,361,484 

11. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables  950  37,841 

Less Provision for doubtful debts –  (2,905)

GST receivable  30,034  26,683 

R&D tax concession receivable  664,950  731,315 

Total trade and other receivables  695,934  792,934 

Note: All trade and other receivables for the Group include amounts in:
 – Australian dollars of AUD $700,575 (June 2018: $759,252)
 – United States dollars, equivalent to AUD ($4,641) (June 2018: ($3,253))
 – European euros, equivalent to AUD $NIL (June 2018: $36,314)
 – British pounds, equivalent to AUD $NIL (June 2018: $621)
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12. INVENTORIES

Consolidated
June 30, 2019 

$
June 30, 2018 

$

Finished goods and raw materials  520,698  588,909 

Less Provision for obsolescence  (520,698)  (381,901)

Total inventories –  207,008 

Note:  In line with the Company’s strategy which outlines its focus on its new generation product Smartz™, the Company has decided to provide for 
the full carrying cost of its legacy product AssessPLUS™ and SIM™.

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Office equipment at cost  338,306  333,945 

Less: accumulated depreciation  (333,844)  (332,033)

Net office equipment  4,462  1,912 

Furniture and fittings at cost  84,679  84,679 

Less: accumulated depreciation  (84,165)  (82,436)

Net furniture and fittings  514  2,243 

Leasehold Improvements  80,117  80,117 

Less: accumulated depreciation  (80,050)  (76,369)

Net leasehold improvements  67  3,748 

Testing Equipment  197,037  47,217 

Less: accumulated depreciation  (52,211)  (47,217)

Net testing equipment  144,826 – 

Rental Assets at cost  59,737  59,737 

Less: accumulated depreciation  (59,737)  (59,325)

Net rental assets –  412 

Total property, plant & equipment  149,869  8,315 

14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Patents at cost  63,714  63,714 

Less: accumulated amortisation  (40,696)  (37,510)

Net patents  23,018  26,204 

Software at cost  138,253  138,253 

Less: accumulated amortisation  (138,158)  (135,334)

Net software  95  2,919 

Total intangible assets  23,113  29,123 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended June 30, 2019
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15. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Consolidated
June 30, 2019 

$
June 30, 2018 

$

Trade payables  107,016  126,420 

Accrued expenses  152,939  350,487 

Payroll-related payables  73,051  77,328 

Other payables  65,603  21,775 

Total trade and other payables  398,609  576,010 

Note: All trade and other payables for the Group include amounts in:
 – Australian dollars of AUD $392,975 (June 2018: $511,296)
 – United States dollars, equivalent to AUD $NIL (June 2018: $31,437)
 – Canadian dollars, equivalent to AUD $2,607 (June 2018: $NIL)
 – European euros, equivalent to AUD $3,027 (June 2018: $33,277)

The break-down of the above foreign exchange amounts have been converted to Australian dollars.

16. PROVISIONS

Current Provisions

Annual leave  123,564  143,370 

Long service leave  73,779 – 

Total current provisions  197,343  143,370 

Reconciliation of annual leave provision

Balance at the beginning of the year  143,370  184,787 

Add: obligation accrued the year  137,920  143,863 

Less: balance utilized during the year  (157,726)  (185,280)

Balance at the end of the year  123,564  143,370 

Non-Current Provisions

Long service leave  8,578  80,074 

Total non-current provisions  8,578  80,074 

Reconciliation of long service leave provision

Balance at the beginning of the year  80,074  79,978 

Add: obligation accrued the year  27,037  96 

Less: balance utilized during the year  (24,754) – 

Balance at the end of the year  82,357  80,074 
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17. BORROWINGS

Consolidated
June 30, 2019 

$
June 30, 2018 

$

Third party loan - R&D tax incentive advance  285,882  678,767 

Convertible notes issue - 2017 –  1,430,712 

Convertible notes issue - 2018 17 (a)  1,563,562  1,423,562 

Convertible notes issue - 2019 17 (b)  1,399,490 – 

Total borrowings  3,248,934  3,533,041 

(a)  In April 2018, the company entered into unsecured note deed pursuant to which it has issued unsecured notes for an aggregate principal 
amount of AUD$1,400,000.

At the company’s Special General Meeting on April 13, 2018, the Company obtained shareholder approval to convert the 
Debt Notes into CDIs (a form of ‘equity security’ for the purposes of the ASX Listing Rules). The conditions of the resultant 
AUD$1,400,000 Convertible Notes are prescribed by the Convertible Note Terms contained in the unsecured debt notes entered 
into between the Company and each Noteholder on identical terms. 

There has been no prior formal valuation of the securities issued in the Financing as there has not been any necessity to do so. 
The Financing has been reviewed and unanimously approval by the independent members of the Board of Directors.

The company has accrued $163,562 interest payable on Convertible Notes as at June 30, 2019. 

The key terms from the 2018 Convertible Note Deed are summarised as follows:

Term Description

Use of Funds: Company's working capital purposes.

Interest: Coupon rate of 10% per annum, with all interest payable upon the Maturity Date.

Maturity Date: March 31, 2019, at which time the Noteholder can elect the Notes be redeemed or convert into CDIs 
following shareholder approval which was obtained at the Special General Meeting on April 13, 2018. 
The principal amount plus accrued interest is repayable earlier on the occurrence of an event of default.

Security and priority: The Notes are unsecured. The money owing to each Noteholder by the Company shall rank pari passu and 
pro rata between each Noteholder without any preference or priority between them.

Requisite Approvals All Requisite Approvals have been obtained under the applicable laws and regulations and the Convertible 
Notes are now convertible into CDIs upon Conversion. 

Convertible Notes As all Requisite Approvals have been obtained , the Convertible Notes will be either redeemed for cash 
or converted into CDIs on the earlier of the next capital raising or March 31, 2019.

Conversion The Convertible Notes automatically convert into CDIs (shareholder approval having been obtained) into 
that number of CDIs calculated by dividing the sum of the principal amount paid under the Convertible 
Notes plus accrued interest; by the Conversion Price (i) $0.04 per CDI; (ii) where prior to the Maturity Date 
the Company undertakes the Next Capital Raise, the price per CDI at which the Next Capital Raise has 
been completed and (iii) the 10 Day VWAP for the period immediately preceding the Maturity Date.

Repayment Repayment is due on earlier of:

 – Maturity Date (March 31, 2019); or 
 – the occurrence of an Event of Default 

If repayment is due to the occurrence of an Event of Default the Company must redeem the relevant Notes the 
subject of a Default Redemption Notice by paying the Principal outstanding plus Accrued Interest (including 
interest at the annual rate of 12% as from the date of service of the default redemption notice).

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended June 30, 2019
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Term Description

Events of default: The Convertible Note Deed also includes customary events of default including –
 – the Company breaches a material term of the Deed;
 – any warranty is materially misleading or untrue;
 – occurrence of an insolvency event;
 – failure to obtain a Requisite Approval (including shareholder approval) within the time periods - 

no longer applicable;
 – Court judgement in excess of $100,000 is obtained against the Company

On February 22, 2019 the Company entered into Deed of Amendment with the 2018 Noteholders to extend the Maturity Date 
of notes to March 31, 2020. The Noteholders option to convert at the price per CDI at which the Next Capital Raise has been 
completed has been extended to within 7 days prior to the convening of a special general meeting of CDI holders to seek 
security holder approval to a reorganisation.

The mandatory conversion provision is now operational when the company completes a Next Financing Event defined 
as a financing of the company of at least $7.5 million undertaken after February 21, 2019 and before Maturity Date. The 
Conversion Price is the lower of the Conversion Price as originally defined or the price at which funds were raised under that 
Next Financing Event.

(b)  In June 2019, the company entered into secured note deed pursuant to which it has issued unsecured notes for an aggregate 
principal amount of AUD$3,140,000.

At the company’s Special General Meeting on June 24, 2019, the Company obtained shareholder approval to convert up to 
$3,500,000 the Debt Notes into CDIs (a form of ‘equity security’ for the purposes of the ASX Listing Rules). The conditions of the 
resultant AUD$3,500,000 Convertible Notes are prescribed by the Convertible Note Terms contained in the secured debt notes 
entered into between the Company and each Noteholder on identical terms. 

There has been no prior formal valuation of the securities issued in the Financing as there has not been any necessity to do so. 
The Financing has been reviewed and unanimously approval by the independent members of the Board of Directors.

The company has accrued $23,562 interest payable on Convertible Notes as at June 30, 2019.

The key terms from the 2019 Convertible Note Deed are summarised as follows:

Term Description

Use of Funds: To focus on the Corporation's business model by continuing to bring its software platform technology 
AlertPLUS™ to market and for other working capital purposes. 

Interest: Coupon rate of 10% per annum, with all interest payable upon the earlier of conversion, redemption or the 
Maturity Date.

Subscription  
Tranches:

Funds are to be advanced in 3 tranches as follows:

(a)   an initial tranche of $500,000 upon signing the Note Deeds (First Tranche) as consideration for 
500,000 Debt Notes (already subscribed),

(b)  a further tranche of a minimum of $1,575,000 (Second Tranche) in return for 1,575,000 Convertible 
Notes, and

(c)  a further tranche of up to $1,000,000 (Third Tranche) at AU$1.00 per Convertible Notes as 
consideration for the issue of up to 1,000,000 Convertible Notes. 

Maturity Date: April 30, 2022 

17. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)
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Term Description

Security and priority: The Convertible Notes will be secured convertible notes. A general securities deed poll granting security 
over the entire Corporation’s assets and undertakings in Australia will be executed by the Corporation 
in favour of each 2019 Noteholder. The security shall cease as the Convertible Notes are converted or 
redeemed. 

The secured money owing to each Noteholder by the Corporation shall rank pari passu and pro rata 
between each 2019 Noteholder without any preference or priority between them. The Note Deed includes 
general terms governing Noteholders conducting Noteholder meetings and a process for actions that 
may be taken by the Noteholders.

Requisite Approvals: All Requisite Approvals have been obtained under the applicable laws and regulations and the Convertible 
Notes are now convertible into CDIs upon Conversion.

Repayment: Repayment is due on earlier of:

 – Maturity Date (if required by the Noteholder and not already Converted); or
 – the occurrence of an Event of Default. 

If repayment is due to the occurrence of an Event of Default the Corporation must redeem the relevant 
Notes by paying the Principal outstanding plus Accrued Interest (including interest at the annual rate of 
12% as from the date of service of the default redemption notice).

Events of default: The Convertible Note Deed also includes customary events of default including

 – the Company breaches a material term of the Deed;
 – any warranty is materially misleading or untrue;
 – occurrence of an insolvency event;
 – Court judgement in excess of $100,000 is obtained against the Company

Covenants The Corporation provides each Noteholder with usual commercial covenants for a transaction such as 
this Financing

Conversion The Convertible Notes may be converted by the Noteholder at any time, and will automatically convert 
into CDIs upon a Qualifying Finance Event or a Takeover of the Corporation, where a Qualifying Financing 
Event means an equity capital raise of at least A$7.5 million, or such other amount as agreed, based on 
a minimum pre-money valuation of the Company of at least A$20 million, with a target of pre-money 
valuation of A$25 million.

The number of CDIs to issue upon Conversion is calculated by dividing the sum of the principal amount 
paid under the Convertible Notes plus accrued interest; by the Conversion Price. The Conversion Price 
shall be determined as follows:

(a)  upon a “Qualifying Financing Event”, the Conversion Price is equal to a 65% discount to the price per 
CDI at which the Qualifying Financing Event occurred with a cap based on a fully diluted (excluding all 
options under the Simavita Limited Stock Option Plan) pre-money value of $25m (in which case the 
conversion price will be the lower of the 65% discount and the pre-money cap of $25m). This price is 
to be calculated at a share price before taking into account the Qualifying Capital raise; or

(b)  where a Noteholder elects to Convert on or prior to June 30, 2020, the Conversion Price is equal to 
a 65% discount to the price per CDI calculated by dividing $20 million by the number of CDIs on issue 
at the date of Conversion, or

(c)  where a Noteholder elects to Convert after June 30, 2020, the Conversion Price is equal to a price per 
CDI calculated by dividing $3 million by the number of CDIs on issue at the date of Conversion; or

(d)  upon the “Maturity Date”: the Conversion Price is equal to a price per CDI calculated by dividing 
$3 million by the number of CDIs on issue at the date of Conversion.

Where the CDIs are reconstructed, consolidated, divided or reclassified into a lesser or greater number 
of securities under circumstances not otherwise contemplated by the Note Terms or the Note Deed, 
the Conversion Price and / or Conversion Number shall be adjusted by the Company as it reasonably 
considers appropriate, having first obtained independent confirmation of the adjustment.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended June 30, 2019
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Management has disclosed that a Qualifying Financing Event is anticipated to occur within 12 months after the financial year 
end date. The Qualifying Financing Event will trigger mandatory conversion of the convertible notes which will automatically 
settle both the financial liability embedded derivative and debt host within 12 months. On that basis, the convertible notes are 
classified as a current financial liability as at June 30, 2019.

18. SHARE CAPITAL

Number of 
Shares Amount

Summary of common shares issued and outstanding

Balance at July 1, 2017  309,899,594  66,243,056 

Issue of common shares for cash – – 

Equity transaction costs – – 

Balance at June 30, 2018  309,899,594  66,243,056 

Balance at July 1, 2018  309,899,594  66,243,056 

Issue of common shares for cash  71,833,330  2,155,000 

Issue of common shares from conversion of convertible notes  36,045,208  1,441,808 

Equity transaction costs –  (110,183)

Balance at June 30, 2019  417,778,132  69,729,681 

As of the date of these financial statements, there was a total of 417,778,132 common shares in the Group on issue, of which all 
of them were held as CDIs.

Summary of options outstanding
As at June 30, 2019, a total of 22,444,844 options over common shares in the Group were outstanding.

The numbers of options outstanding including the respective dates of expiry and exercise prices, are tabled below. The options 
are not listed on the ASX.

Number
Exercise 

price Grant date Expiry date

Fair value per 
option Black 

Scholes

6,279,922 $0.050 July 14, 2016 June 23, 2023 $0.056

6,279,922 $0.050 July 14, 2016 June 23, 2023 $0.056

3,000,000 $0.060 October 13, 2016 October 13, 2023 $0.034

460,000 $0.120 October 13, 2016 October 13, 2023 $0.027

2,000,000 $0.050 June 29, 2017 June 28, 2024 $0.019

1,675,000 $0.050 February 15, 2018 January 31, 2025 $0.027

50,000 $0.050 June 5, 2018 June 4, 2025 $0.027

2,700,000 $0.035 November 20, 2018 November 19, 2025 $0.021

17. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)
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19. RESERVES

Consolidated

June 30, 2019
$

June 30, 2018
$

Share-based payments reserve  959,046  1,269,729 

Share capital reserve  499,445  499,445 

Foreign currency reserve  43,817  41,956 

Total reserves  1,502,308  1,811,130 

20. ACCUMULATED LOSSES

Balance at the beginning of the year  (69,819,942)  (66,061,620)

Reversal of lapsed options vested not exercised  367,383  1,183,973 

Add: net loss attributable to owners of Simavita Limited  (3,934,216)  (4,942,295)

Balance at the end of the year  (73,386,775)  (69,819,942)

21. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)  Parent entities
The Group is controlled by the following entities:

Name

Ownership interest

Type
Place of  

incorporation 2019 2018

Simavita Limited *
Ultimate parent entity and 
controlling party Canada 100% 100%

Simavita Holdings Limited
Immediate and ultimate 
Australian parent entity Australia 100% 100%

* Simavita Limited holds 100% of the issued ordinary shares of Simavita Holdings Limited.

(b)  Subsidiaries
Interests in subsidiaries are set out below:

Name of Group company
Group interest %

Incorporation details 2019 2018

Simavita Limited
May 28, 1968; Yukon, Canada (continued into 
British Columbia, Canada on December 3, 2013 N/A N/A

Simavita Holdings Limited October 11, 1995; Victoria, Australia 100% 100%

Simavita (Aust) Pty Ltd January 15, 2009; NSW, Australia 100% 100%

Simavita US Inc. August 11, 2012; Delaware, USA 100% 100%

Fred Bergman Healthcare Pty Ltd January 28, 1971; Victoria, Australia 100% 100%

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended June 30, 2019
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21. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(c)  Key management personnel compensation

June 30, 2019 
$

June 30, 2018 
$

Short-term employee benefits  1,221,644  1,145,272 

Post-employment benefits  91,268  81,217 

Termination benefits – – 

Share-based payments  42,000  54,000 

 1,354,912  1,280,489 

The compensation of each member of the key management personnel of the company is set out in the Remuneration report, 
included in the Directors’ Report.

(d) Transactions with other related parties

Subscription for Convertible notes totalling $100,000 by company directors for 2019 Convertible Note issue described in the 
Note 17(b), in the same terms as other noteholders. 

22. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Identification	of	reportable	segments
The Group has identified one reportable business segment based on the similarity of the products manufactured and sold  
and/or the services provided, being the sale of products and services associated with the assessment and management of 
urinary incontinence, as this represents the source of the Group’s major risk and has the greatest effect on the rates of return.

The Group has identified two reportable geographic segments, being Australia and Rest of the World (Europe and North 
America), based on the jurisdiction where the sales and marketing associated with such products occurs.

The segments are reported in a manner that is consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision 
maker. The chief operating decision maker consists of the Board and key management personnel.

Australia 
$

ROW 
$

Other 
$

Total 
$

FY 2019 
Revenue

Sales of goods  380  42,797 –  43,177 
Services  141,399  –  –  141,399 

Total revenue  141,779  42,797  –  184,576 
Cost of sales  (36,663)  (50,306)  –  (86,969)
Gross Profit  105,116  (7,509)  –  97,607 
Other income  –  –  720,514  720,514 
Operating expenses  (400,242)  (538,368)  (3,570,427)  (4,509,037)
EBITDA  (295,126)  (545,877)  (2,849,913)  (3,690,916)
Depreciation and amortization  –  –  (18,637)  (18,637)
Finance costs  –  –  (224,663)  (224,663)
Loss before income tax expense  (295,126)  (545,877)  (3,093,213)  (3,934,216)
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Australia 
$

ROW 
$

Other 
$

Total 
$

FY 2018 

Revenue

Sales of goods  22,599  185,793  –  208,392 

Services  202,952  –  –  202,952 

Total revenue  225,551  185,793  –  411,344 

Cost of sales  (39,483)  (180,698)  –  (220,181)

Gross Profit  186,068  5,095  –  191,163 

Other income  –  –  697,907  697,907 

Operating expenses  (300,341)  (1,088,939)  (4,157,801)  (5,547,081)

EBITDA  (114,273)  (1,083,844)  (3,459,894)  (4,658,011)

Depreciation and amortization  –  –  (50,670)  (50,670)

Finance costs  –  –  (233,614)  (233,614)

Loss before income tax expense  (114,273)  (1,083,844)  (3,744,178)  (4,942,295)

Total segment assets
Jun 30, 2019  –  9,904  1,688,774  1,698,678 
Jun 30, 2018  –  43,927  2,522,812  2,566,739 

Total segment liabilities
Jun 30, 2019  –  26,496  3,826,968  3,853,464 
Jun 30, 2018  –  78,169  4,254,326  4,332,495 

23. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Consolidated

June 30, 2019 
$

June 30, 2018 
$

Operating lease expenditure commitments

 – not later than one year  78,698  75,148 

 – later than one year but no later than five years  41,307  – 

 – later than five years  –  – 

Total minimum operating lease payments  120,005  75,148 

On June 1, 2019 the Group entered into operating lease relating to the following premises:

Location Landlord Use
Date of

lease expiry
Minimum
payments

Suite 2.02, Level 2, 54 Miller  
St North Sydney NSW 2060, Australia

VIA III Miller 
Property T Pty Ltd Office

December 31, 
2020 120,005

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended June 30, 2019
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Identification	of	reportable	segments	(continued)
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24. AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

Name of Auditor Year

Audit 
services 

$

Assurance 
services 

$

Other 
services 

$
Totals 

$

PricewaterhouseCoopers 2019  125,000  –  16,000  141,000 

2018  100,000 –  62,402  162,402 

25. DEED OF CROSS-GUARANTEE
The subsidiaries listed below are parties to a deed of cross guarantee under which each company guarantees the debts of the 
others. Under ASIC Corporations (wholly-owned Companies) Instrument 206/785 there is no requirement for these subsidiaries 
to prepare or lodge a financial report and Director’s report.

The following companies are subject to the deed and represent a closed group for the purposes of the class order:

 – Simavita Holdings Limited
 – Simavita (Aust) Pty Ltd

The deed of cross guarantee was executed on May 23, 2017 and reconfirmed on August 29, 2019.

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income and consolidated balance sheet, comprising the closed group, 
after eliminating all transactions between parties to the deed of cross guarantee are shown below:

Consolidated
June 30, 2019 

$
June 30, 2018 

$

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Loss

Revenue  184,576  411,344 

Cost of sales  (86,794)  (213,298)

Gross profit  97,782  198,046 

Other income  669,342  646,695 

Operating expenses  (3,867,847)  (4,600,964)

Loss before income tax  (3,100,723)  (3,756,223)

Income tax – –

Loss after income tax  (3,100,723)  (3,756,223)

Other comprehensive income

Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit/ (loss)

Translation of foreign operation – –

Total comprehensive loss for the year  (3,100,723)  (3,756,223)
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25. DEED OF CROSS-GUARANTEE (CONTINUED)

Consolidated
June 30, 2019 

$
June 30, 2018 

$

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Assets

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents  679,239  1,262,288 

Trade and other receivables  697,095  794,669 

Inventories  –  207,008 

Other assets  105,909  141,323 

Total Current Assets  1,482,243  2,405,288 

Non-Current Assets

Property, plant and equipment  149,869  8,234 

Intangible assets  95  2,919 

Other receivables  975  975 

Total Non-Current assets  150,939  12,128 

Total Assets  1,633,182  2,417,416 

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity

Liabilities

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables  38,458,838  36,147,412 

Provisions  197,343  120,784 

Total Current Liabilities  38,656,181  36,268,196 

Non-Current Liabilities

Provisions  8,578  80,074 

Total Non-Current Liabilities  8,578  80,074 

Total Liabilities  38,664,759  36,348,270 

Shareholders’ Equity

Share capital  44,075,386  44,075,386 

Reserves  1,778,742  1,778,742 

Accumulated losses  (82,885,705)  (79,784,982)

Total Shareholders’ Equity  (37,031,577)  (33,930,854)

Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity  1,633,182  2,417,416 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended June 30, 2019
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26. PARENT ENTITY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Summary	financial	information
The individual financial statements for the parent entity show the following aggregate amounts:

June 30, 2019 
$

June 30, 2018 
$

Statement of financial position

Current assets  44,448  116,388 

Total assets  44,448  116,388 

Current liabilities  24,165,866  2,967,222 

Total Liabilities  24,165,866  2,967,222 

Shareholders’ equity

Issued capital  30,580,060  27,093,435 

Reserves

Share-based payments reserve  (343,287)  (32,604)

Share capital reserve  141,717  139,278 

Retained earnings  (33,406,301)  (30,050,943)

 (3,027,811)  (2,850,834)

Profit or loss for the year  (3,355,358)  (21,625,277)

Total comprehensive loss for the year  (3,355,358)  (21,625,277)

27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks such as credit risk, market risk (including foreign currency risk and 
interest rate risk) and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial 
markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group. The Group uses different 
methods to measure the different types of risk to which it is exposed. These methods include sensitivity analysis in the case 
of  foreign exchange, interest rate and aging analysis for credit risk.

Risk management is managed by the Group’s Audit and Risk Committee (the “Committee”) under guidance provided by the 
Board of Directors. Due to the small number of Directors currently, the full Board is operating as the Audit & Risk Committee. 
The Committee identifies and evaluates financial risks in close cooperation with the Group’s operating units. A detailed 
Enterprise Risk Plan was developed during the year ended June 30, 2015 and approved by the Board. The Plan has been 
reviewed annually by the Committee and revised on a regular basis, as required.

The Board, via the Committee, provides guidance for overall risk management, as well as policies covering specific areas, 
such as credit risk, foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk. The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and 
cash equivalents. The Group also has other financial assets and liabilities, such as trade receivables and payables, which arise 
directly from its operations.

The Group does not typically enter into derivative transactions, such as interest rate swaps or forward currency contracts. It is, 
and has been throughout the period under review, the Group’s policy that no trading in financial instruments shall be undertaken. 
The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are credit risk exposures, foreign currency risk, interest rate risk 
and liquidity risk. The policies and procedures for managing these risks are summarized below.

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of 
measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are recognized, in respect of each class of financial asset, financial 
liability and equity instrument are disclosed in Note 2. 
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27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
The Group holds the following financial instruments:

Consolidated
June 30, 2019 

$
June 30, 2018 

$

Financial Risk Management

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents  689,462  1,361,484 

Trade and other receivables  695,934  792,934 

Total financial assets  1,385,396  2,154,418 

Financial Liabilities

Trade and other payables  398,609  576,010 

Borrowings  3,248,934  3,533,041 

Total financial liabilities  3,647,543  4,109,051 

Credit risk
The Group’s credit risk is managed on a Group basis. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents and deposits with 
banks and financial institutions, as well as credit exposures to customers, including outstanding receivables and committed 
transactions. If there is no independent rating, the Group assesses the credit quality of the customer, taking into account 
its financial position, past experience and other factors. Individual risk limits are set based on internal or external ratings. 
The compliance with credit limits by customers is regularly monitored by Management. The maximum exposures to credit risk 
as at June 30, 2019 in relation to each class of recognized financial assets is the carrying amount of those assets, as indicated 
in  the balance sheet.

Financial assets included on the balance sheet that potentially subject the Group to concentration of credit risk consist 
principally of cash and cash equivalents and trade receivables. In accordance with the guidelines of the Group’s Short Term 
Investment Policy, the Group minimizes this concentration of risk by placing its cash and cash equivalents with financial 
institutions that maintain superior credit ratings in order to limit the degree of credit exposure. For banks and financial 
institutions, only independently-rated parties with a minimum rating of “A-1” are accepted. The Group has also established 
guidelines relative to credit ratings, diversification and maturities that seek to maintain safety and liquidity. The Group does not 
require collateral to provide credit to its customers, however, the majority of the Group’s customers to whom credit is provided 
are substantial, reputable organizations and, as such, the risk of credit exposure is relatively limited. The Group has not entered 
into any transactions that qualify as a financial derivative instrument.

In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis. As at June 30, 2019, the Group had raised a provision for 
doubtful debts of $NIL (FY18:2,905). In certain circumstances, the Group may also obtain security in the form of guarantees, 
deeds of undertaking or letters of credit from customers which can be called upon if the counterparty is in default under the 
terms of the agreement.

The Group does not typically enter into derivative transactions, such as interest rate swaps or forward currency contracts. It is, 
and has been throughout the period under review, the Group’s policy that no trading in financial instruments shall be undertaken. 
The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are credit risk exposures, foreign currency risk, interest rate risk 
and liquidity risk. The policies and procedures for managing these risks are summarized below.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended June 30, 2019
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27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Credit risk (continued)
Credit risk further arises in relation to financial guarantees given by the Group to certain parties in respect of any obligations of 
its subsidiaries. Such guarantees are only provided in exceptional circumstances. An analysis of the aging of trade and other 
receivables and trade and other payables is provided below:

Consolidated
June 30, 2019 

$
June 30, 2018 

$

Trade Receivables

Current (less than 30 days)  675  13,323 

31 days to 60 days  –  21,475 

61 days to 90 days  –  275 

Greater than 90 days  275  2,768 

Total trade receivables  950  37,841 

Trade and other payables

Current (less than 30 days)  398,609  571,165 

31 days to 60 days  –  – 

61 days to 90 days  –  – 

Greater than 90 days  –  4,845 

Total trade and other payables  398,609  576,010 

Note: Trade receivables do not include the R&D tax concession receivable of $664,950 (2018: $731,315).

Market risk

Foreign currency risk
The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign currency exchange risk, primarily as at balance date with respect 
to the US dollar, Euro and Canadian dollar, through financial assets and liabilities. It is the Group’s policy not to hedge these 
transactions as the exposure is considered to be minimal from a consolidated operations perspective. Further, as the Group 
incurs expenses which are payable in US dollars, Euros and Canadian Dollars, the financial assets that are held in US dollars, 
Euros and Canadian dollars provide a natural hedge for the Group.

Foreign exchange risk arises from planned future commercial transactions and recognized assets and liabilities denominated 
in a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency and net investments in foreign operations. The risk is measured using 
sensitivity analysis and cash flow forecasting.

The Group has a Foreign Exchange Management Policy which was developed to establish a formal framework and procedures 
for the efficient management of the financial risks that impact on Simavita Limited through its activities outside of Australia, 
predominantly in the United States and Europe. The policy governs the way in which the financial assets and liabilities of the 
Group that are denominated in foreign currencies are managed and any risks associated with that management are identified 
and addressed. Under the policy, which is updated as circumstances dictate, the Group generally retains in foreign currency only 
sufficient funds to meet the expected expenditures in that currency.
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27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Market risk (continued)
As at June 30, 2019 the Group held the following financial assets and liabilities that were denominated in the following 
currencies: AUD – Australian dollars; USD – United States dollars; CAD – Canadian dollars; EUR – European euros; GBP – Great 
British Pounds.

Year
$  

AUD
$  

USD
$  

CAD
$

GBP
$  

EUR

$ 
Totals 
(AUD)

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 2019  657,846  8,167  21,456  –  1,993  689,462 
2018  1,180,129  13,939  99,662  –  67,754  1,361,484 

Trade and other receivables 2019  700,575  (4,641)  –  –  –  695,934 
2018  759,252  (3,253)  –  621  36,314  792,934 

Total financial assets 2019  1,358,421  3,526  21,456  –  1,993  1,385,396 
2018  1,939,381  10,686  99,662  621  104,068  2,154,418 

Financial Liabilities

Trade and other payables 2019  392,975  –  2,607  –  3,027  398,609 
2018  511,296  31,437  –  –  33,277  576,010 

Borrowings 2019  3,248,934  –  –  –  –  3,248,934 
2018  3,533,041  –  –  –  –  3,533,041 

Total financial liabilities 2019  3,641,909  –  2,607  –  3,027  3,647,543 
2018  4,044,337  31,437  –  –  33,277  4,109,051 

(i) Cash and cash equivalents
During the year ended June 30, 2019, the Australian dollar / US dollar exchange rate decreased by 5.4%, from 0.7391 at the 
beginning of the year to 0.7013 at the end of the year.

During the same period, the Australian dollar / Canadian dollar exchange rate decreased by 6.4%, from 0.9771 at the beginning 
of the year to 0.9187 at the end of the year.

Also, during the same period, the Australian dollar / Euro exchange rate decreased by 2.8% from 0.6344 at the beginning of the 
year to 0.6171 at the end of the year.

Based on the financial instruments held at June 30, 2019, had the Australian dollar weakened / strengthened by 10% against the 
US dollar, with all other variables held constant, the Group’s consolidated loss for the year would have been $1,000 lower/ $1,000 
higher (2018: $1,000 lower/ $1,000 higher), due to changes in the values of cash and cash equivalents which are denominated in 
US dollars, as detailed in the above tables.

Based on the financial instruments held at June 30, 2019, had the Australian dollar weakened / strengthened by 10% against the 
Canadian dollar, with all other variables held constant, the Group’s equity, relating solely to the movement in profit and loss for 
the year, would have been $2,000 lower/$2,000 higher (2018: $9,000 lower/$10,000 higher), due to changes in the values of cash 
and cash equivalents which are denominated in Canadian dollars, as detailed in the above tables.

Based on the financial instruments held at June 30, 2019, had the Australian dollar weakened / strengthened by 10% against 
the Euro, with all other variables held constant, the Group’s loss for the year would have been immaterial (2018: $6,000 
lower/$7,000 higher).

(ii) Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold or services performed in the ordinary course of the business. 
Other receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market. If collection of the amounts is expected in one year or less they are classified as current assets. Trade receivables are 
generally due for settlement within 30 days and therefore are all classified as current.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended June 30, 2019
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27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Market risk (continued)
(iii) Trade and other payables
Trade payables are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. The carrying amounts of trade and other 
payables are considered to be the same as their fair values, due to their short-term nature.

(iv) Borrowings
The carrying amounts of borrowings are considered to be the same as their fair values. Refer to Note 17.

Interest rate risk
The Group’s main interest rate risk arises in relation to its short-term deposits with various financial institutions. If rates were to 
decrease, the Group may generate less interest revenue from such deposits. However, given the relatively short duration of such 
deposits, the associate risk is relatively minimal. As at balance date, the Group has no debt or hire purchase liabilities on which 
interest expense is charged.

The Group has a Short Term Investment Policy which was developed to manage the Group’s surplus cash and cash equivalents. 
In this context, the Group adopts a prudent approach that is tailored to cash forecasts rather than seeking the highest rates of 
return that may compromise access to funds as and when they are required. Under the policy, the Group deposits its surplus 
cash in a range of deposits over different time frames and with different institutions in order to diversify its portfolio and 
minimize overall risk.

On a monthly basis, Management provides the Board with a detailed list of all cash and cash equivalents, showing the periods 
over which the cash has been deposited, the name and credit rating of the institution holding the deposit and the interest rate 
at which the funds have been deposited. A comparison of interest rate movements from month to month and a variance to an 
11am deposit rate is also provided.

At June 30, 2019, if interest rates had changed by +/- 50 basis points from the year-end rates, with all other variables held 
constant, the Group’s equity, relating solely to the movement in profit and loss for the year, would not have changed materially. 
The Group’s main interest rate risk during the year ended June 30, 2018 and June 30, 2019 arose in respect of fixed rate 
borrowings with interest rates that did not fluctuate. 

The exposure to interest rate risks and the effective interest rates of financial assets and liabilities, both recognized and 
unrealised, for the Group is as follows:

Consolidated Year
Floating rate 

$
Fixed rate 

$

Carrying 
amount 

$

Weighted 
ave. rate 

%

Maturity 
period  

days

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 2019  689,462  –  689,462 0.44%  At call 

2018  1,361,484  –  1,361,484 0.53%  At call 
Performance bond and deposits 2019  –  –  –  –  At call 

2018  –  –  –  –  At call 

Total financial assets 2019  689,462  –  689,462 

2018  1,361,484  –  1,361,484 

Financial Liabilities

Interest-bearing liabilities 2019  –  3,248,934  – 10.53%
2018  –  3,533,041  – 11.15%

Total financial liabilities 2019  –  3,248,934  – 

2018  –  3,533,041  – 

Note: All periods in respect of financial assets are for less than one year.
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27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Liquidity risk
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and cash equivalents and the availability of funding 
through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities, such as its hire purchase and credit card facilities. The Group 
manages liquidity risk by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and, wherever possible, matching the maturity 
profiles of financial assets and liabilities. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying business, Management aims to maintain 
flexibility in funding by keeping committed credit lines available. Surplus funds are generally only invested in instruments that are 
tradable in highly liquid markets.

A balanced view of cash inflows and outflows affecting the Group is summarized in the table below:

Consolidated Year
< 6 months 

$

6 to 12 
months 

$

1 to 5  
years 

$
> 5 years 

$
Total 

$

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables 2019  384,493  14,116  –  –  398,609 
2018  576,010  –  –  –  576,010 

Interest-bearing liabilities and deposits 2019  298,535  1,693,973  2,754,929  –  4,747,437 
2018  2,120,575  1,528,658  –  –  3,649,233 

Total financial assets 2019  683,028  1,708,089  2,754,929  –  5,146,046 
2018  2,696,585  1,528,658  –  –  4,225,243 

Classification	of	financial	instruments
AASB 13 establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the input to valuation techniques used to measure fair value, 
as follows:

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

Level 2:  inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly 
(i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

The fair values of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities as at June 30, 2019 and June 30, 2018 (as set out above) 
approximate their carrying values due to the short term nature of these instruments.

Borrowing facilities
The Group had access to the following borrowing facilities as at June 30, 2019:

Nature of facility

Facility 
limit 

$

Amount 
used 

$

Amount 
available 

$

Credit card facilities  90,000 –  90,000 

28. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The Group’s objective when managing capital is to ensure its ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can provide returns 
for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. Refer to Note 10 for details of cash reserves of the Group as at the end of 
the financial reporting period.

29. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Company received balance of Tranche 2 payment amounting to $750,000 from 2019 Convertible Note investors during 
July 2019.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended June 30, 2019
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Directors’ Declaration

The Directors of the Group declare that:

1 The financial statements and notes are:

 (a)  giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at June 30, 2019 and of its performance for the year ended 
on that date;

 (b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and other mandatory professional reporting requirements; and

2  In the Directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Group will be able to pay its debts as and when they 
become due and payable.

3  At the date of this declaration, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the members of the extended closed group 
identified in Note 25 will be able to meet any obligations or liabilities to which they are, or may become, subject by virtue of 
the deed of cross guarantee described in Note 25.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.

 

Michael R. Spooner Damien M. Haakman
Chairman Director

Date: August 30, 2019 

The above declaration should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and with the 
accompanying notes.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
for the year ended June 30, 2019

 

  
PricewaterhouseCoopers, ABN 52 780 433 757 
One International Towers Sydney, Watermans Quay, Barangaroo, GPO BOX 2650, SYDNEY  NSW  2001 
T: +61 2 8266 0000, F: +61 2 8266 9999, www.pwc.com.au 
Level 11, 1PSQ, 169 Macquarie Street, Parramatta NSW 2150, PO Box 1155 Parramatta NSW 2124 
T: +61 2 9659 2476, F: +61 2 8266 9999, www.pwc.com.au 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 

Independent auditor’s report 
To the members of Simavita Limited 

Our opinion 
In our opinion the accompanying financial report presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of Simavita Limited (the Company) and its controlled entities (together the Group) as at June 
30, 2019 and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with  
Australian Accounting Standards. 

What we have audited 
The Group financial report comprises: 

 the consolidated statement of financial position as at June 30, 2019 
 the consolidated statement of comprehensive loss for the year then ended 
 the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended 
 the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended 
 the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include a summary of significant 

accounting policies 
 the director’s declaration. 

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
report section of our report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. 

Independence 
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the ethical requirements of the Accounting 
Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the 
Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

Material uncertainty related to going concern 
We draw attention to Note 2(a) in the financial report, which indicates that the Group incurred a loss 
before tax of $3,934,216 for the year ended June 30, 2019 and net operating cash outflows during the 
same period amounted to $3,506,527. The Group had a net current asset deficiency as at June 30, 
2019 of $2,319,190 (2018: $1,723,120). As a result, the continuing viability of the Group is dependent 
upon continued support of its shareholders, and successfully raising further capital, successfully 
implementing its revenue growth and cost containment strategies. These conditions, along with other 
matters detailed in Note 2(a), indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant 
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of 
this matter. 
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Our audit approach 
An audit is designed to provide reasonable assurance about whether the financial report is free from 
material misstatement. Misstatements may arise due to fraud or error. They are considered material if 
individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of the financial report. 

We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an 
opinion on the financial report as a whole, taking into account the geographic and management 
structure of the Group, its accounting processes and controls and the industry in which it operates. 

 

Materiality Audit scope Key audit matters 

 For the purpose of our audit 
we used overall Group 
materiality of $196,700, which 
represents approximately 5% 
of the Group’s loss before tax. 

 We applied this threshold, 
together with qualitative 
considerations, to determine 
the scope of our audit and the 
nature, timing and extent of 
our audit procedures and to 
evaluate the effect of 
misstatements on the financial 
report as a whole. 

 We chose Group loss before tax 
because, in our view, it is the 
benchmark against which the 
performance of the Group is 
most commonly measured. 

 We utilised a 5% threshold 
based on our professional 
judgement, noting it is within 
the range of commonly 
acceptable loss related 
thresholds.  

 Our audit focused on where 
the Group made subjective 
judgements; for example, 
significant accounting 
estimates involving 
assumptions and inherently 
uncertain future events. 

 The Group is in the field of 
smart, wearable and 
disposable technologies for the 
healthcare market. The 
Group’s head office is located 
in Sydney and the Group 
operates in Australia, Europe 
and North America.  

 The accounting processes are 
structured around a Group 
finance function located in 
Sydney.  Our audit procedures 
were predominantly performed 
at the Group’s head office.   

 Amongst other relevant topics, 
we communicated the following 
key audit matters to the Audit 
and Risk Committee: 

 Accounting for the Research 
and Development (R&D) tax 
incentive. 

 Classification and valuation 
of convertible notes. 

 Material uncertainty related 
to going concern. 

 These are further described in 
the Key audit matters section of 
our report, except for the matter 
which is described in the 
Material uncertainty related to 
going concern section.  
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Key audit matters 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in 
our audit of the financial report for the current period. The key audit matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do 
not provide a separate opinion on these matters. Further, any commentary on the outcomes of a 
particular audit procedure is made in that context.  

In addition to the matters described in the Material uncertainty related to going concern section, we 
have determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our 
report. 

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Accounting for Research and Development 
(R&D) tax incentive 
(Refer to note 5 & 11 [$664,950]) 

The Group obtains Research and Development (R&D) 
tax incentive payments from the Australian 
Commonwealth Government that reduces the net 
overall cost incurred by the Group in respect of its R&D 
activities. The Group has recognised R&D tax incentive 
income and receivable of $664,950 under the relevant 
scheme for the 2019 financial year. 

This was a key audit matter because of the judgement 
involved by the Group in assessing the appropriate 
quantum of R&D tax incentive to recognise due to the 
complexity of the rules and regulations governing the 
tax incentive. 

We performed the following audit procedures, amongst 
others: 

 Assisted by PwC R&D taxation specialists, we 
developed an understanding of the government 
compliance requirements for obtaining the 
R&D tax incentive and the basis used by the 
Group to recognise this incentive. 

 Tested a sample of employee costs allocated by 
the Group to R&D activities and considered 
whether the activities meet the definition and 
eligibility for an R&D tax incentive.  

 We compared the amounts recorded and 
subsequently received relating to the 2018 
financial year to supporting documentation. 

 Assessed whether all relevant employee costs 
were included in the R&D tax incentive 
calculation by comparing the employee costs 
used to calculate the R&D tax incentive to the 
expenditure recorded in the general ledger. 

 Compared the Group’s calculations for accrued 
receivables for the R&D tax incentive to prior 
year approved R&D tax incentive calculation. 

 Evaluated the adequacy of disclosures made by 
the Group in the financial report in view of the 
requirements of Australian Accounting 
Standards. 

  

Independent Auditor’s Report
for the year ended June 30, 2019
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Classification and valuation of convertible 
notes 
(Refer to note 17 [$2,963,052 ($2,790,000 principal 
plus accrued interest of $173,052)]) 

During the year, the Group had following convertible 
notes: 

2018 Convertible Note – During April 2018 the Group 
entered into an agreement to issue $1.4m of convertible 
notes, with a maturity date of March 31, 2019 and an 
annual coupon rate of 10% per annum. During the year, 
the expiry date was extended to March 31, 2020. 

2019 Convertible Note – During June 2019 the Group 
entered into an agreement to issue $3.14m of secured 
notes, and repayable in three tranches, with an annual 
coupon rate of 10% per annum. 

The valuation and classification of the above two 
convertible notes as debt or equity is dependent on the 
terms and conditions as stated in the underlying 
agreements. 

The above two convertible notes have been classified as 
debt and as current liabilities. 

This was a key audit matter due to the judgment 
required by the Group in determining the cost of 
conversion and assessing whether the convertible notes 
should be classified as debt or equity.  

 

We performed the following audit procedures, amongst 
others: 

 Tested all funding received for the convertible 
note 2018 and 2019, and the cost associated 
with the notes through agreeing the amount to 
supporting documentation. 

 Assisted by PwC specialists, we developed an 
understanding of the terms and conditions of 
the two convertible note agreements (“the 
Agreements”) and the requisite conditions to 
be met for conversion. 

 We assessed the Group’s consideration of the 
accounting classification of the embedded 
derivatives. 

 Assessed the Group’s classification of debt as 
current liabilities.  

 Evaluated the adequacy of disclosures made 
by the Group in the financial report in view of 
the requirements of Australian Accounting 
Standards. 

Other information 
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the Group’s annual report for the year ended June 30, 2019, but does not 
include the financial report and our auditor’s report thereon. Prior to the date of this auditor's report, 
the other information we obtained included the Directors' Report including Remuneration Report, 
Corporate Governance Statement and Corporate Information. We expect the remaining other 
information to be made available to us after the date of this auditor's report.  

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do not and will not 
express an opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
report or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 
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If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the date of 
this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we 
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

When we read the other information not yet received, if we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the matter to the directors and use our 
professional judgement to determine the appropriate action to take. 

Responsibilities of management and the directors for the financial report 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as Management 
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, Management is responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless Management either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

The directors are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial report. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the 
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website at: 
http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar1.pdf. This description forms part of our 
auditor's report. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers 

Manoj Santiago Sydney 
Partner 30 August 2019 

Independent Auditor’s Report
for the year ended June 30, 2019
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ASX Additional Information
as at 26 September 2019

Additional Information required by the Australian Securities Exchange Limited (ASX) Listing Rules and not disclosed elsewhere in 
the Report is set out below. 

1.  In accordance with the 3rd edition ASX Corporate Governance Council’s Principles and Recommendations, the 
2019 Corporate Governance Statement, as approved by the Board, is available on the Company’s website at:  
http://www.simavita.com. The Corporate Governance Statement sets out the extent to which Simavita Limited 
has followed the ASX Corporate Governance Council’s Recommendations during the 2019 financial year. The 2019 
Corporate Governance Statement is current as at 28 August 2019.

2. SUBSTANTIAL SECURITYHOLDERS 
The number of securities held by substantial CDI holders and their associates, as advised to the ASX, are set out below: 

Name Number of CDIs
Interest as at  

date of Notice

Dussman Group 102,019,031 24.62%

Chevron Corporation Pty Ltd 52,178,317 12.59%

TIGA Trading Pty Ltd 48,212,657 11.63%

Jolimont Lodge Pty Ltd atf Powell Superannuation Fund 28,251,991 6.82%

George Tauber Management Pty Ltd and associated entities 23,926,766 5.77%

3. NUMBER OF SECURITYHOLDERS AND SECURITIES ON ISSUE 
Simavita Limited has issued the following securities: 

a. 417,778,132 CHESS Depository Interests (CDIs) held by 925 securityholders; 
b. 24,444,844 Unlisted options held by 12 option holders; and
c. 19 Convertible Notes held by 19 noteholders.

4. VOTING RIGHTS 

CHESS Depository Interests
Simavita is a Canadian Incorporated entity which is listed on the ASX and its shares trade as CDIs. Simavita’s sole shareholder is 
CHESS Depositary Nominees Pty Ltd, a wholly owned subsidiary of the ASX, which legally holds the shares on behalf of the CDI 
holder whilst the CDI holder retains the beneficial ownership of the shares.

CDI holders are able to vote at meetings by proxy by completing a CDI Voting Instruction Form and lodging it with the share 
registry. Each CDI holder is entitled to one vote per CDI of a members meeting.

Options 
Option holders do not have any voting rights on the options held by them. 
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5. DISTRIBUTION OF SECURITYHOLDERS 

(a) Quoted securities

CHESS Depository Interests 

Category Holders Units %

1 – 1,000 305 49,962 0.01

1,001 – 5,000 159 550,343 0.13

5,001 – 10,000 86 691,654 0.17

10,001 – 100,000 230 9,289,493 2.22

100,001 and over 145 407,196,680 97.47

Total 925 417,778,132 100.00

(b) Unquoted securities

Options  

Category Holders Units %

1 – 1,000 0 0 0.00

1,001 – 5,000 0 0 0.00

5,001 – 10,000 0 0 0.00

10,001 – 100,000 6 835,000 3.4

100,001 and over 6 23,609,844 96.6

Total 12 24,444,844 100.00

6. UNMARKETABLE PARCEL OF SECURITIES 
The number of shareholders holding less than a marketable parcel of CDIs is 716 based on Simavita Limited’s closing CDI price 
of $0.01, on 26 September 2019.

ASX Additional Information
as at 26 September 2019
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7. TWENTY LARGEST SECURITYHOLDERS 

CHESS Depository Interests 
Details of the 20 largest grouped securityholders:

Name No. of CDIs %

1 DUSSMAN & ASSOCIATES 102,019,031 24.42

2 CHEVRON CORPORATION PTY LTD 52,178,317 12.49

3 MUTUAL TRUST PTY LTD 45,277,345 10.84

4 UBS NOMINEES PTY LTD 41,000,000 9.81

5 HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED - A/C 2 38,837,943 9.30

6 GEORGE TAUBER MANAGEMENT P/L 23,926,766 5.73

7 HSBC CUSTODY NOMINEES (AUSTRALIA) LIMITED 22,355,603 5.35

8 CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 9,999,667 2.39

9 LEICA ISON PTY LTD <LEICA ISON SUPER FUND A/C> 3,594,009 0.86

10 DYSPO PTY LIMITED <HENTY SUPERANNUATION FUND> 3,000,000 0.72

11 CARLUKE PASTORAL CO PTY LTD <CARLUKE SUPER FUND A/C> 2,500,000 0.60

12 MR YI CHENG 2,454,431 0.59

13 THIRTY-FIFTH CELEBRATION PTY LTD <JC MCBAIN SUPER FUND A/C> 2,400,624 0.57

14 MISS COURTNEY DAVIS + MR MATTHEW SMITH 2,282,795 0.55

15 MR NICHOLAS SINCLAIR 2,171,005 0.52

16 MJGD NOMINEES PTY LTD 1,996,500 0.48

17 DYSPO PTY LTD 1,666,666 0.40

18 IRWIN BIOTECH NOMINEES PTY LTD 1,516,500 0.36

19 AGGREGATED CAPITAL PTY LTD <SUPER FUND NO 2 A/C> 1,500,000 0.36

20 MR MICHAEL BLANCHE + MRS LAURAINE DIGGINS <DIGGINS SUPER FUND A/C> 1,500,000 0.36

 Totals: Top 20 holders 362,177,202 86.69

 Total Remaining Holders Balance 55,600,930 13.31

 Issued Capital 417,778,132 100.00

8. VOLUNTARY ESCROW
There are currently no restricted securities or securities subject to voluntary escrow on issue.

9. ON MARKET BUY-BACK 
There is no current on market buy-back. 

10. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION PROVIDED IN ACCORDANCE WITH ASX ADMISSION LETTER:
In accordance with the admission letter provided to Simavita Limited by the ASX, the following additional statements are 
provided to any persons who may subscribe for securities under a prospectus or information memorandum:

Simavita Limited (the “Group”) was incorporated under the laws of the Yukon Territory on 28 May 1968 and continued under the 
laws of the Province of British Columbia, Canada on 3 December 2013.

The Company is not subject to chapters 6, 6A, 6B and 6C of the Corporations Act dealing with the acquisition of its securities 
(including substantial holdings and takeovers).

There are no limitations of the acquisition of securities imposed by the jurisdiction in which the Company is incorporated and 
there are no limitations on the acquisition of securities imposed under the Company’s constitution. 
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